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Dear Shareholders,

The Directors of the Arab Insurance Group (B.S.C.) (Arig) 
are pleased to present the Company’s 36th Annual Report 
and Consolidated Financial Statements for the 2016 
Financial Year.

GROUP PERFORMANCE

Despite a very challenging market environment and 
continuing political unrest in some of Arig’s core 
markets, the year 2016 ended for the Company with 
very encouraging news. A.M. Best upgraded the Group’s 
Financial Strength Rating to ‘A- (Excellent)’ and its Long-
Term Issuer Credit Rating to ‘a-’ with a stable outlook 
and highlighted in their related press release “the rating 
upgrades reflect Arig’s ability to take strategic decisions 
to eliminate underperforming business segments 
and optimise its business profile to generate stronger 
prospective earnings”. 

The Group generated a net profit of US$ 9.2 million in 2016 
(2015: a loss of US$ 4.4 million).  The underwriting result 
for the Group recorded a profit of US$ 8.3 million (2015: 
profit of US$ 0.8 million), while the Group’s combined ratio 
improved to 96.8% compared with 106.6% in 2015.

Arig’s Gross written premiums increased to US$ 245.4 
million over the year (2015: US$ 220.4 million) and the 
total investment income for the Group reached US$ 19.3 
million (2015: US$ 14.3 million). 

THE MARKET

Economic Situation 

Several political mega events dominated the news in 
2016 and kept the world in a highly alert state. The US 
presidential election and the referendum in the United 
Kingdom on leaving the EU were surely the most prominent 
two. Politicians in continental Europe were preoccupied 
managing the consequences of the unprecedented high 
influx of refugees and asylum seekers, arriving mainly from 
the MENA region.
  
The devastating wars in Syria, Iraq, Libya and Yemen, 
which represents about one third of the MENA region’s 
population, are also affecting all neighbouring countries on 
a much greater scale than Europe. 

The world economy continued to be dominated by a 
historically low level of interest rates, low oil prices and 
slowly growing world trade. 

The IMF estimated in its latest World Economic Outlook 
(Jan. 2017) an overall world output of 3.1% for 2016 (2015: 

3.2%). Emerging Markets and developing countries are 
expected to grow by 4.1% in 2016, same level as 2015 
against a growth of 1.8% (2015: 2.1%) in the advanced 
economies. China will remain at the top of the list with an 
expected growth of 6.7% (2015: 6.9%). A high growth of 
6.6% is also expected for India; however, at a noticeable 
lower level than 2015 with 7.6%.

Growth has been constrained in the MENA region due to 
the impact of prolonged low oil prices, long-lasting conflicts 
and on-going security concerns. 

Two of our core markets are expected to perform at a 
considerable lower level against 2015, the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia 1.4% (2015: 4.1%) and Turkey 2.9% (2015: 
4%). Further, the growth in Sub-Saharan Africa is expected 
to drop to 1.4% against 3.4% in 2015.

In the USA, and contrary to earlier fears, the election of 
President Trump has triggered a broad-based rally in the 
financial markets, especially stock markets which has 
been fuelled by expectations of tax cuts, pro-business 
regulatory reforms and increased government spending. 
The US Dollar has appreciated sharply, while bond yields 
have increased across the board.

Post Brexit, domestic demand assisted UK to perform 
relatively strongly in the 3rd quarter 2016. The overall 
outlook for the UK in 2016 is 2% (2015: 2.2%). However, 
the effect of Brexit on the financial institutions, insurance 
and reinsurance market in Europe has yet to be resolved. 
A notable direct impact was a reduction of nearly 16% in 
the value of Sterling against the US Dollar. 

Insurance and Reinsurance 

The insurance and reinsurance industry is directly 
impacted by this global and regional economic and political 
environment. Particularly, the low level of interest rates 
environment coupled with an absence of mega insurance 
events is still attracting investors, although at a reducing 
scale. 
 
Capital availability and regulatory change are also 
resulting in new reinsurance company formations in rapidly 
developing and promising markets such as China and 
India. 

Lloyds stamp capacity is expected to reach - for the first 
time - GBP 30 billion. This represents an increase of 10% 
over 2016 levels, but this is largely due to the fall in the 
value of Sterling against the US Dollar following the Brexit 
announcement as over 50% of Lloyd’s premium income is 
in US Dollar.
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Chairman

Our focus will remain on Arig’s operational efficiencies, 
using our financial strength, market presence and third party 
relationships in providing new products, services and know 
how to our customers.”

“

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)
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Aon Benfield estimates that the global reinsurance 
capacity is now in excess of US$ 590 billion, an increase 
of more than 4.4% over last year. This figure includes 
conventional reinsurance as well as alternative capital, 
which is increasing in dominance as a viable risk transfer 
mechanism.  

Overall demand for reinsurance increased in 2016, but 
growth has been limited by both region and line of business. 
It is therefore expected that such combined capacity will be 
adequate to meet the increased reinsurance demand.

The continued focus of supervisory authorities on financial 
risk management processes as well as on increasing capital 
adequacy standards should further enhance demand for 
reinsurance in the near future, as the gap between rating 
agency assessments and regulatory capital requirements 
narrows. 

Corporate mergers and acquisitions (M&A) activity 
in the specialty insurance and reinsurance markets 
has accelerated strongly in the fourth quarter of 2016. 
Continued consolidation is expected to occur in 2017, 
given the current market climate.

According to recent analysis by Munich Re, 2016 suffered 
from US$ 50 billion of global natural catastrophe losses, a 
four year high and an increase of 50% over 2015. Losses 
occurred in several regions and the causes were varied 
with no single large event causing enough damage to 
influence current global pricing levels. Renewal pricing 
impacts were mainly localised.

With political instability increasing around the globe, 
reinsurance is adapting to the evolving nature of political 
risks in an attempt to close the gaps in existing coverage. 
In addition, new technologies, big data and predictive 
analytics will continue to present both challenges and 
opportunities for insurers in the years ahead.

In our region, medical insurance will continue to be the 
fastest growing line of business fuelled by the introduction 
of new compulsory health insurance requirements. This 
will also remain the most powerful driver of insurance and 
reinsurance demand.

Reinsurance exposure is expected to grow at a faster 
pace than the MENA countries’ GDP. The region’s robust 
insurance market growth is seen as being primarily driven 
by compulsory schemes followed by a more stringent 
regulatory environment for insurers and relatively low 
natural catastrophe exposure (except for Turkey, Iran and 
Algeria), making this region attractive to global insurers 
and reinsurers.

Despite continued political instability and the economic 
slowdown in the wake of falling oil prices in the region, 
regulatory intervention following large property losses 
is easing pressure on reinsurance rates, terms and 
conditions.

ARIG’S POSITION 

Despite the challenging market conditions, flood losses in 
UAE and an increase in the 2015 fire loss at the prominent 
Address Hotel in Dubai, the overall technical return for 
the Group  was US$ 14.7 million (2015: US$13.2 million) 
up 11.4% year-on-year basis. The margins of our non-life 
treaty business improved from a more or less negligible 
result in 2015 to US$ 6.2 million with medical treaty 
business contributing US$ 1.2 million (2015: US$ 0.1 
million). Our Lloyd’s portfolio returned negative results  
due to our participation in two new start-up syndicates, 
however in the long run these syndicates will most likely 
generate more positive returns as it is normal for the 
syndicates to over reserve in the initial years. Our non-
life facultative portfolio showed, as in the previous years, 
a healthy performance of US$ 11.0 million (2015: US$ 8.2 
million), particularly in Property and Engineering lines.  

The Life business was affected by a combination of a single 
large individual life policy loss and adverse experience 
from some of Arig’s larger credit life schemes, which led 
to a negative technical result of the Life portfolio by US$ 
2.5 million. Remedial measures have been implemented 
to reverse this trend. 

Our discontinued Takaful Re portfolio is also running off 
smoothly and this has additionally benefited our bottom 
line. 

Gross written premiums were up by 11.3% for the year 
2016, mainly driven by our continued diversification 
into the Lloyd’s market which has more than doubled in 
the last 12 months. This increase has largely offset the 
reduced volume in our core markets and business lines 
as the continued competitive market and unstable political 
environment hampers growth opportunities. Additionally, 
premium income reduced following the closure of our 
Takaful Re and the branches in Singapore and Labuan. 

The Company also managed its operating expenses, 
where the expense ratio has been reduced by 10.5 
percentage points compared with last year.

The most important development for Arig over the past 
several years has been the announcement by A.M. Best 
that our rating has been upgraded to ‘A-’, but this came in 
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late December and was too late to have any effect on our 
2016 portfolio.

While we continue to identify new products and 
opportunities, we are subject to the same market conditions 
that our clients and competitors face. Nevertheless, we 
are all determined to look for alternative solutions to the 
challenges at hand to maintain the Company’s profitability.

Investment returns were better in 2016 as compared to the 
previous year. For a predominantly fixed income investor 
like Arig, the environment remained challenging. Money 
market rates and yields on government and corporate 
bonds continued to be low on a historic basis. Our well-
executed strategy did however ensure that our investment 
income made a significant contribution to the overall Group 
profit.

In view of the positive results achieved over the year in 
these difficult trading conditions, the Board is pleased to 
recommend a dividend of 5% subject to approval of the 
Central Bank of Bahrain.

OUTLOOK

Following subdued economic activity in 2016, the 
performance of emerging markets and developing 
economies in particular is expected to improve in 2017 
and beyond. This is despite the uncertainties surrounding 
ramifications of the controversial incoming U.S. 
administration.

The World Economic Outlook (WEO) looks positive. The 
IMF recent update estimated an overall projected world 
output of 3.4% for 2017. Emerging Markets and developing 
countries are expected to grow by 4.5% in the same 
period. The WEO forecast expects a firming of oil prices 
following OPEC members and other producers’ agreement 
to control supply. Regional economies still largely driven by 
oil revenues will start to benefit from the increasing price 
of oil. According to the OPEC Reference Basket, the price 
has increased steadily since February 2016 albeit from its 
lowest value in 10 years.

Despite these optimistic economic projections, the global 
reinsurance industry outlook remains challenging in view 
of the current political risks and over supply of capacity. 
While insurers and reinsurers are progressing cautiously, 
it is difficult to envisage major changes in the economic 
sentiment and any substantial reduction in overall 
reinsurance capacity. However, with the reducing margins 
in reinsurance profitability, it is unlikely that rate reductions 
will be tolerated in future. Risk acceptance practices and 
underwriting controls will very likely be adjusted to ensure 
that profitability is maintained.

Regional regulators are increasingly becoming aware of 
the financial risks arising from the current underwriting and 
reserving practices, and it is expected that insurers and 
reinsurers will be facing increasing scrutiny which may 
force review of the efficiencies of their deployed risk capital.  

At Arig, we apply capital modelling techniques to ensure 
that our risk adjusted capital remains at appropriate levels.

In line with our objective to further diversify our book of 
business towards the much more controllable and therefore 
better performing facultative business, we are at the final 
stage of the establishment of Arig Insurance Management 
(DIFC) Limited (AIM) at the Dubai International Financial 
Centre in Dubai.  

DIFC has positioned itself not only as an important 
reinsurance hub for the region, but also for business 
emanating from Africa. The majority of the leading 
reinsurance brokers are represented, in one way or 
another, at the DIFC. These brokers are controlling the 
placement of largely better performing corporate accounts, 
which should improve Arig’s access to this business. 

AIM should in addition add value to the Group by positioning 
itself, over the medium-term, as an attractive manager for 
cover-holder arrangements. Specialized Lloyd’s products 
will be offered to our clients via these arrangements for the 
mutual benefit of all stakeholders.     

Our recent upgrade of the Group’s Financial Strength 
Rating to ‘A- (Excellent)’ by A.M. Best is not only a very 
important and necessary corner stone in respect of our 
future plans at DIFC, but it also allows us further access 
to business previously out of our reach because of 
minimum security requirements requested by supervisory 
authorities, particularly in Asian markets, where ‘A’ rating 
is a prerequisite. 

Arig views Personal Lines as a major area for development 
to diversify away from purely commercial business. 
In recent times, ‘digital disruption’ has become a 
commonplace phrase littering industry commentaries and 
frequently cited as probably the biggest challenge to the 
insurance industry. The unchecked progress of technology 
has completely changed the ways in which consumers 
not only purchase but how they are made aware of their 
needs. Our sector has been relatively slow to respond to 
the potentials of using the masses of data captured and 
held on today’s computer systems but we are now seeing 
this phenomenon driving product design, distribution, 
pricing and even underwriting. In 2016, Arig has concluded 
a partnership agreement with a pioneering Personal Lines 
technology company in order to complement our traditional 
reinsurance services with a fully integrated series of 
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technology distribution solutions. We are also embedding 
Life and Healthcare offerings into the mix, thereby working 
towards ‘one stop’ employee benefit solutions for both 
individuals and corporates.  

Our focus will remain on Arig’s operational efficiencies, 
using our financial strength, market presence and third 
party relationships in providing new products, services and 
know how to our customers. We continue to see growth 
areas that have largely been underexplored. We believe 
that our first and foremost duty is to generate added value 
to our customers and shareholders.
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UAE Government 31.38%

Libya Government 14.45%

Kuwait Government 9.10% 

Bahrain Government 0.84%

UAE Private 13.13%

Kuwait Private 9.19%

Other Private 21.91%

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

KEY FIGURES

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING

As of 31 December 2016

(US$ million) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Gross premiums written   245.4  220.4  315.3  262.0  276.5 

Net earned premiums   180.5  219.9  256.4  237.7  254.7 

Net profit (loss)  9.2  (4.4)  15.6  18.6  17.6 

Investment assets   737.4  746.6  715.4  642.2  667.6 

Total assets   1,114.4  1,099.1  1,104.3  1,056.6  1,046.1 

Net technical provisions   589.9  613.7  635.6  619.6  612.1 

Shareholders’ equity   256.6  244.2  264.5  249.2  235.2 
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Yassir Albaharna
Chief Executive Officer

“

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)

Our determination to focus on sustained 
profitability to the benefit of all stakeholders will 
remain our guiding force in the future.

“
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Territorial split of Gross Written premium income

 

Middle East

Africa

Asia

Lloyd’s Accounts

35%

45%

11%
9%

REINSURANCE

The global reinsurance industry has for some years faced 
a paradox.
 
On the one hand, oversupply of conventional and 
alternative reinsurance capacities are pushing the terms 
of trade for reinsurance protection to untested low levels, 
whilst investment opportunities are quite limited due to the 
continued “low interest phase”. The latter is especially true 
for traditional reinsurance companies, who, due to rating 
and business model requirements are forced to invest in 
fixed-return instruments. The “low interest phase” is, on 
the other hand, driving large investors, such as pension 
and hedge funds, to invest in alternative reinsurance 
solutions such as “collateralized reinsurance covers” or 
“insurance linked securities” aiming for higher returns. 
These investments are partly responsible for the increase 
of the overall global reinsurance capacity, which in turn, 
is one of the main drivers of the current soft reinsurance 
market environment. 

Natural catastrophic events were also not large enough to 
return the rating scale upwards, although insured losses 
increased by 50% against 2015*. Aon Benfield indicated in 
their “Annual Global Climate and Catastrophe Report 2016”, 
that 315 natural catastrophe events generated economic 
losses of US$ 210 billion in 2016. The highest loss amount 
in four years and 21% above the 16-year average of US$ 
174 billion. However, just slightly more than a quarter of 
the overall economic losses were covered by insurance, 
due to a higher percentage of damage occurring in areas 
with a lower insurance penetration.     
 
Despite all these challenges many reinsurers succeeded 
in making positive returns in 2016. According to Standard 
& Poor’s, reinsurers have been able to maintain investor’s 
interest by generating relative diversification compared 
to other sectors. Active portfolio management and the 
application of sophisticated modelling assisted in this 
regard. 

Whilst underwriting performance for the industry was a 
little bit down compared with 2015 reflecting the increased 
catastrophe loss activity and the continued declining 
reinsurance prices, investment returns, which are the 
second driver of income for reinsurers, fared better in 2016 
leading to an overall profitable result.

Industry mergers and acquisitions accelerated during the 
4th quarter of 2016 and further consolidation is anticipated 
during 2017, given current challenging market conditions.

In Asia, the market continued to soften towards the end 
of the year as new players are fighting for market share 
and traditional players reinvent themselves through start-
ups. Reinsurance prices are beginning to bottom out, as 
reported by the reinsurance broker Aon Benfield in its 2017 
“Asia Review”.

Greater focus on capital management and consumer 
protection required by the regulators coupled with growth 
in compulsory coverages such as motor and medical were 
the main driver for premium growth in the MENA region. 

Although, the current environment is characterised by a 
continuing regional political and security risks coupled with 
the economic slowdown, it is still expected that growing 
regulatory consolidation in combination with increased 
property losses in recent years in value and size, will allow 
reinsurance rates to increase with improved terms and 
conditions. Arig looks forward to these improved conditions 
particularly with its recent A.M. Best ‘A-’ upgrade.

BUSINESS REVIEW  

Portfolio development 

The Group’s gross written premium income increased to 
US$ 245.4 million over the year, representing 11.3% annual 
growth, mainly driven by the Company’s expanded product 
offering and geographical reach from its involvement in 
Lloyd’s portfolios. Due to adverse competitive pressures 
however, we partially stepped down our involvement in 
some mature business lines - even from our core markets.  
Our top line was in addition affected by the decision to put 
our Takaful Re operation into run-off and the close our 
branch activities in South East Asia. Both measures were 
found to be necessary to secure our future profitability. 
In summary, though our business production has been 
reduced by 20% from the Middle East and 41% from the 
Far East, the reduction has been more than offset by the 
increase of our Lloyd’s business, which has more than 
doubled in 2016 compared with the previous year. 

Despite the expansion in our largest portfolio, Lloyd’s 
accounts book, which is composed of a diverse range of 
business lines and sub-classes with no correlation to Arig’s 
conventional accounts, diversification throughout the 
Group’s portfolio continues to be one of our top priorities in 
managing risk and returns in a highly challenging market 
place. 

Reflecting the common structure of reinsurance in 
developing markets, Property still dominates as a 
major class in our portfolio with 35.7% share of the total 
conventional premium, followed by  Engineering business 
with 18.4%. 

*  Source: Munich Re
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Life business decreased by 27.7%, in view of the 
discontinuation of a sizeable long-term account offered 
at economically unattractive terms and conditions. The 
Medical portfolio reduced by 22%, mainly due to the 
cessation of Takaful Re’s operations.

Performance

Even though the Company’s reinsurance portfolio was 
affected by the increased Dubai Address Hotel fire loss 
as well as flood losses in U.A.E., the Group’s overall 
technical result reached US$ 14.7 million (2015: US$ 13.2 
million) representing an annual increase of 11.4%. The 
main profitability was driven by our Facultative business, 
particularly Property and Engineering portfolios, which 
combined, contributed 75.9% of the total Facultative 
technical result. Overall non-life treaties produced a profit 
for the year of US$ 6.2 million (2015:  profit of US$ 0.2 
million) with Property business contributing US$ 4.7 million, 
Marine Cargo US$ 4.2 million and Medical US$ 1.2 million. 

The overall non-life loss ratio for the Group reduced by 5.6 
points to 60.7% over the reporting period (2015: 66.3%), 
reflecting our prudent underwriting approach.

Our Lloyd’s portfolio generated  a technical loss of US$ 
4.6 million due to our participation in two new start-up 
syndicates; however, over the long run, these syndicates 
will most likely generate more positive returns as it is 
normal for the syndicates to over reserve in their initial 
years. 

Life technical results were affected by a single large 
individual life policy loss and adverse experience from 
some of Arig’s larger credit life schemes. Corrective 
measures have been implemented to reverse this trend.

Risk Capital Position

As has been the Company’s practice, we commissioned 
independent external actuaries to provide an updated 
estimate of the amount of capital required to cater for 
risk events throughout the Group’s operations at a 
1:200 probability, or 99.5th percentile. Arig’s Economic 
Capital shows substantial redundancy against the 
Company’s shareholders equity at this confidence level. 
It well demonstrates that the Group is offering substantial 
financial security to its customers, even in a stressed 
model scenario.

Arig’s reinsurance book has seen limited changes over 
the position one year ago. Key drivers for the Group’s risk 
capital are reserve risk and, to a lesser extent, underwriting 
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risk followed by market risk, operational risk, liquidity risk 
and credit risk. Subsequent to a recent review by our 
independent actuaries, market risk has seen a notable 
increase while operational risk decreased moderately. All 
movements combined resulted in a marginal decrease in 
the Group’s Economic Capital requirement.

As it was endorsed through actuarial analyses, we remain 
highly confident that the diversity and the quality of the 
Group’s portfolio provide solid protection to Arig’s reinsured 
clients and shareholders’ capital alike.

Outlook

The Global Economic Environment of 2017 and beyond 
will strongly be influenced by the decisions and actions of 
the new US Administration, the consequences of the Brexit 
as well as the effects of the monetary easing policy of the 
past years. 

In our region, budget constraints imposed by GCC 
governments driven by reduced oil revenues continue 
to dominate the economic outlook. Saudi Arabia’s and 
Bahrain’s visions 2030 and the UAE’s vision 2020 clearly 
show that regional governments are not only aware of 
fragility of oil revenue dependence, but are actively taking 
steps to diversify income and growth streams to support 
future generations.        

Insurance and Reinsurance is expected to grow slightly, 
but there does not appear to be any significant hardening 
of rates in the foreseeable future. However, despite these 
challenging market conditions, Arig’s position has improved 
due to the recent upgrade to ‘A-’ by A. M. Best. We intend 
to maximise the increased opportunities generated by this 
rating by starting a new operation in the Dubai International 
Financial Centre in Dubai (DIFC) focusing on facultative 
business placed in that regional hub. In addition, we now 
also see reasonable prospects in entering selective Asian 
markets. Certain market segments, previously closed to 
us, are our aim is this regard. Yet, we can not expect the 
rating upgrade to have an immediate effect on our already 
improved portfolio structure. We are now however in a very 
good position to elevate the quality of the ceded business 
as well as increase our geographical and product diversity 
much further. We are confident that the positive impact will 
start to show meaningful results during the 2018 renewals 
and the years to follow. 

In line with our above strategy, we also consider the 
African continent as another important geographical 
expansion area with significant potential for the Group, 
due to increasing  infrastructure development projects and 
economic growth in general. 

Additionally, we will continue our participation with selected 
Lloyd’s syndicates in a balanced manner, aiming at a 

healthy portfolio mix for business emanating from highly 
developed markets against business from emerging 
markets.

Personal lines such as Life, Travel and Health Insurance 
will remain, as in the recent past, one of our major areas for 
development building on a customised solution approach 
with preferred insurance management partners in the 
region and by assisting our clients in exploring new sales 
channels.   

We feel that strengthening our growth with further 
portfolio diversification and applying more stringent risk 
management processes will allow us to trade profitability 
in the challenging market conditions. Our determination 
to focus on sustained profitability to the benefit of all 
stakeholders will remain our guiding force in the future.  

INVESTMENTS 

It was a year of unanticipated events. The election of 
Donald Trump, the decision by UK voters to exit from 
the European Union, the Italian referendum and a deal 
by OPEC with other major oil producers to curtail output 
dominated headlines. 

These developments impacted asset prices, market 
sentiment and growth outlook, particularly in America. 
After the election result, the US stock markets and 
nominal yields on Treasuries rose. Markets anticipate an 
expansionary fiscal policy with stronger demand growth 
and higher inflation. In the year, the blue-chip Dow Jones 
Industrial Average rose 13.41%. Yields on the benchmark 
US 10 Year Treasury Note rose seventeen basis points to 
close at 2.44%. 

In Europe, the positive impact on asset prices was less 
pronounced. Yields on European government bonds did 
increase from the intra-year low but closed lower for the 
year. Elevated political and banking uncertainty continues 
to impinge sentiment in Europe.   

The monetary policies of Central Banks continued to 
diverge. The US Federal Reserve increased short-term 
rates. The unexpected Brexit vote in the UK forced the 
Bank of England to lower its Official Bank rate. In Euro 
Zone, a further cut in the Deposit Facility Rate by the 
ECB drove short-term rates deeper into negative territory. 
The Bank of Japan decided to introduce quantitative and 
qualitative monetary easing with a negative interest rate 
to achieve price stability. These actions reflected the 
challenges facing developed economies with the exception 
of the United States.
   
In contrast, the mood was upbeat in emerging markets. 
The Morgan Stanley Emerging Markets Index rose 8.58%. 
The broad GCC stock index closed in positive territory. 
The production quota agreement referenced earlier in this 
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report, helped crude oil futures (West Texas Intermediate) 
soar 45.03%. Other commodities were buoyant. 

The move into riskier assets did not curb demand for the 
US dollar. The Spot Dollar Index (DXY) increased 3.62%. 

In line with the risk tolerance of the Group, our investment 
strategy remained unaltered. We continued to be 
conservative in our allocation. At year-end, the Group’s 
investments stood at US$ 737.4 million (2015: US$ 746.6 
million) with 89.33% (2015: 89%) allocated to cash, short-
term securities, and bonds. Group investment income 
generated in 2016 was US$ 19.3 million (US$ 14.3 million 
in 2015).  

At the time of this report, markets are consolidating. Yields 
on US Treasuries are steady after the spike in yields in the 
fourth quarter of last year. Major equity indices have risen 
marginally and crude oil is trading in range. The biggest 
unknown is the policy stance of the new US administration 
and the global ramifications of this position. The negotiation 
of Brexit, the outcome of forthcoming elections in France 
and Germany add to market uncertainty. The prevailing 
low rates of interest by historical standards, continue to 
challenge a short duration investor like Arig. 

We will continue to manage a diversified low risk portfolio 
within the Company’s avowed investment risk appetite, 
carefully balancing market opportunities against our 
standing obligation to policyholders and shareholders. We 
continue to be at a low point in the interest rate cycle and 
therefore, preservation and safety of capital at this stage is 
paramount to exploit opportunities in the investment cycle 
later.   
 

SUBSIDIARIES

Takaful Re Limited (TRL)

The Group’s Islamic reinsurance subsidiary, TRL, which 
ceased operations in 2015 was placed in run-off in April 
2016. The run-off operations resulted in a net profit of US$ 
2.2 million (2015: net loss of US$ 7.0 million) for the year. 
Arig’s share in the profit was US$ 1.2 million (2015: share 
of loss US$ 3.8 million). 

TRL’s investments yielded an average return of 1.8% 
(2015: 0.8%) with investment earnings of US$ 1.9 million 
(2015: US$ 1 million). The Company maintained its 
conservative investment strategy with a high degree of 
liquidity.  About 64% (2015: 53%) of the US$ 104.6 million 
(2015: US$ 107.7 million) of invested assets were held in 
cash and short-term Islamic deposits.

Gulf Warranties (GW)

Gulf Warranties recorded a profit of US$ 0.1 million for 
the year (2015: profit US$ 0.3 million). Amidst challenging 
market conditions the company recorded motor warranty 
revenues of US$ 3.9 million (2015: US$ 4.0 million) while 
non-warranty income contributed US$ 0.9 million (2015: 
US$ 1.0 million) for the year.

Arig Capital Limited (ACL)

ACL is a registered and fully owned corporate member 
at Lloyd’s of London that allows Arig to share in business 
written by Lloyd’s syndicates. In 2016 ACL wrote business 
through five syndicates namely Apollo, Novae, Barbican, 
Standard and Accapella, generating gross written 
premiums of US$ 110.9 million (2015: US$ 45.9 million). 
ACL retains limited risk for its net account and cedes most 
of its business to the parent company. ACL recorded a 
nominal loss of US$ 0.4 million for the year (2015: net loss 
US$ 0.3 million). 
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As a  service to the industry, 
Arig is pleased to present general information 

collated from the Arab insurance markets
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Gross premium by class and country - 2011 to 2015 in US$ million

Non-Life Life

Country Year Exchange 
Rate Total GPI Motor

Property 
& Misc. 

Accident

Marine & 
Aviation

Total 
Non-Life % of GPI Total % of GPI

 Algeria  2011  72.9379  1,188.4 602.7 415.1 77.9 1095.7 92.2% 92.7 7.8%

 2012  77.5360  1,240.3  674.0 445.3 68.1 1187.4 95.7% 52.9 4.3%

 2013  80.3520  1,428.7  769.5 488.8 72.4 1330.7 93.1% 98.0 6.9%

 2014 80.5790 1,475.5 761.4 531.4 78.9 1,371.7 93.0% 103.8 7.0%

 2015 100.6914 1,222.6 657.9 457.8 57.19 1,172.9 95.9% 49.7 4.1%

 Bahrain  2011   0.3769   546.1   147.9   249.4   18.8   416.1  76.2%  130.0  23.8%

 2012   0.3769   634.0   164.5   291.3   18.6   474.4  74.8%  159.6  25.2%

 2013   0.3769  685.5 180.5 322.4 16.1 519.0 75.7% 166.5 24.3%

 2014   0.3769  718.4 191.7 354.6 21.2 567.5 79.0% 150.9 21.0%

 2015   0.3769  721.9 201.1 355.2 19.7 576.0 79.8% 146.0 20.2%

 Egypt(1)   2011   5.6219   1,678.8   345.7   387.2   220.3   953.2  56.8%  725.6  43.2%

 2012   6.0561   1,770.5   330.8   434.4   240.2   1005.4  56.8%  765.1  43.2%

 2013   6.8886   1,812.1   308.9   461.7   241.5   1012.1  55.9%  800.0  44.1%

 2014 7.0900  1,812.1   308.9   461.7   241.5   1012.1  51.6% 876.3 48.4%

 2015 7.6913  2,168.4   340.2  527.3   188.0   1055.5  48.7% 1,112.9 51.3%

 Jordan  2011   0.7080   598.3   256.6   240.9   43.3   540.8  90.4%  57.5  9.6%

 2012   0.7080   679.7   273.3   300.8   42.7   616.8  90.7%  62.9  9.3%

 2013   0.7090   692.2   282.2   303.2   39.9   625.3  90.3%  66.9  9.7%

 2014 0.7090 738.8 300.2 323.5 40.3 664.0 89.9% 74.8 10.1%

 2015 0.7090 776.1 310.1 345.8 34.1 690.0 88.9% 86.1 11.1%

 Kuwait  2011   0.2760   698.2   244.4   228.8   72.1   545.3  62.9% 259.0 37.1%

 2012   0.2816   763.7   269.7   256.8   64.7   591.2  59.1% 312.5 40.9%

 2013   0.2838  815.0 313.6 254.9 64.9 633.0 77.7%   182.0  22.3%

 2014 0.2838 869.2 321.6 295.0 62.1 678.2 78.0% 191.0 21.9%

 2015 0.3039 1,048.0  n/a   n/a   n/a  874.0 83.4% 174.0 16.6%

 Lebanon  2011 1,504.0000   1,261.1   202.7   680.4   35.0   918.1  71.9% 354.6 28.1%

 2012 1,504.0000   1,294.9   323.7   559.4   35.0   918.1  71.9% 364.1 28.1%

 2013 1,505.0000   1,389.2   327.0   618.4   41.0   986.4  71.9% 390.9 28.1%

 2014 1,507.5000 1,479.2 347.9 655.9 41.8 1,045.6 70.7% 433.6 29.3%

 2015 1,501.8000 1,521.0 249.8 669.8 43.6 1,063.2 69.9% 457.8 30.1%

 Libya(3)  2011   1.2251   140.7   24.2   95.9   15.1   135.2  96.1%  5.5  3.9%

 2012   1.2251   273.9   47.4   187.0   33.3   267.7  97.7%  6.2  2.3%

 2013   1.2515   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

 2014 1.1950  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

 2015 1.3921  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

 Mauritania(4)  2011   288.0800  12.4  n/a   n/a   n/a   12.2  98.4% 0.2 1.6%

 2012   288.0800  27.3  n/a   n/a   n/a  27.0 98.9% 0.2 1.1%

 2013 288.0800 28.3  n/a   n/a   n/a  28.0 98.9% 0.3 1.1%

 2014 292.5000 28.3  n/a   n/a   n/a  28.0 98.9% 0.3 1.1%

 2015 317.6500 30.3  n/a   n/a   n/a  30.0 99.0% 0.3 1%

 Morocco  2011   8.2013   2,920.4   931.0   953.5   90.2   1974.7  67.6%  945.7  32.4%

 2012   8.2471   3,162.3   972.5   1096.5   76.2   2,145.2  67.8%   1,017.1  32.2%

 2013   8.4055   3,164.8   1,010.9   1062.1   69.9   2,142.8  67.7%   1,022.0  32.3%

 2014 8.4063 3,356.9 1,083.8 1,087.6 67.6 2,239.0 66.7% 1,117.9 33.3%

 2015 9.9666 3,052.6 957.4 984.1 55.4 1,992.9 65.3% 1,059.7 34.7%

 Oman  2011   0.3850   733.0   313.2   252.5   46.3   612.0  76.2% 174.6 23.8%

2012   0.3845   738.6   353.1   248.5   31.7   633.3  84.6% 114.0 15.4%

2013   0.3850   774.5   383.4   265.3   37.8   686.5  87.3% 98.2 12.7%

2014 0.3850 1,035.0 486.4 418.9 34.7 940.0 90.8% 95.0 9.2%

2015 0.3845 1,124.0 423.1 526.0 37.1 986.3 87.7% 137.7 12.3%

(1) Egypt: Financial Year end as at 30 June (2) Sudan: Sudan’s currency changed from the Sudanese dinar (SDD) to the new Sudanese Pound (SDG) introduced in January 2007. (3) Libya: Property & Miscellaneous 
Accident includes Energy (4) Mauritania: Premium figures split by class is not available (5) Qatar: Life premium figures are estimate (6) Saudi Arabia: Property & Miscellaneous Accident includes Energy.
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Definition of gross premium income: This report is based on gross premium income, which includes direct and reinsurance inward premiums received in the year, net of cancellations but before deduction of commissions or reinsurance premiums ceded. 

Portfolio split includes four main lines of business: 

• Motor: Two main lines: Third Party and Comprehensive (in some cases, the classes under Motor were not available). 

• Property & Miscellaneous Accident: Fire, Engineering, General Accident, Personal Accident, Workmen’s Compensation, Medical, Public Liability, etc. 

• Marine & Aviation: Aviation, Marine Cargo, Marine Hull and Inland Cargo. 

• Life: Individual Life and Group Life. 

Insurance and economic data sources: Insurance data for each country is sourced primarily from supervisory authorities, insurance associations and individual companies. Key economic data is extracted from public sources, including reports and documents from the 

World Bank. Premiums are converted into US dollars using official IMF exchange rates as of 31st December of respective year.

Gross premium by class and country - 2011 to 2015 in US$ million

Non-Life Life

Country Year Exchange 
Rate Total GPI Motor

Property 
& Misc. 

Accident

Marine & 
Aviation

Total 
Non-Life % of GPI Total % of GPI

 Palestine  2011   3.5880  146.0  91.8   49.4   1.5   142.7  97.7%  3.3  2.3%

 2012   3.5880   144.4   87.9   51.2   1.7   140.9  97.5%  3.6  2.5%

 2013   3.5880   158.7   92.5   60.6   1.8   154.9  97.6%  3.8  2.4%

 2014  3.5880  171.0 100.5 64.9 1.7 167.1 97.7% 3.9 2.3%

 2015  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

 Qatar(5)  2011   3.6408   1,154.6   212.1   817.0   114.2   1,143.3  99.0%  11.3  1.0%

 2012   3.6408    1,114.6   85.9   862.8   149.3   1,098.0  98.5%  16.6  1.5%

 2013   3.6409   1,471.0   n/a   n/a   n/a   1,407.0  98.8% 17.9 1.2%

 2014 3.6400  1,471.0   n/a   n/a   n/a   1,407.0  95.6%  64.0  4.4%

 2015 3.6404  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

 Saudi Arabia(6)  2011   3.7500   4,934.4   1,045.9   3,309.2   337.9   4,693.0  95.1%  241.4  4.9%

 2012   3.7503   5,645.8   1,234.9   3,958.0   216.0   5,408.9  95.8%  236.9  4.2%

 2013   3.7500   6,730.5   1,694.6   4,453.3   357.4   6,505.3  96.7%   225.2  3.3%

 2014 3.7520 7,746.5 2,140.3 4,993.6 371.4 7,505.3 96.9% 241.2 3.1%

 2015 3.7500 9,712.1 2,879.8 6,193.5 382.8 9,456.1 97.4% 256.0 2.6%

 Sudan(2)  2011   2.6769   289.1   124.6   98.8   50.8   274.2  94.8%  14.9  5.2%

 2012   2.6769   337.2   145.9   118.0   59.0   322.9  95.8%  14.3  4.2%

 2013 5.7013 315.6 146.1 90.2 64.8 301.1 96.4% 11.5 3.6%

 2014 2.6769  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

 2015 6.0969  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

 Syria  2011   50.0000   280.9   173.7   67.2   34.5   275.4  65.3% 97.6 34.7%

 2012 139.770  150.6   94.9   39.4   13.3   147.6  40.7% 89.4 59.3%

 2013 139.7700 155.7 40.4 57.1 10.2 107.6 69.2% 48.0 30.8%

 2014 168.7000 94.3 38.6 15.7 4.5 58.7 62.3% 35.6 37.7%

 2015 221.0968 32.2  n/a   n/a   n/a  31.1 96.6% 1.1 3.4%

 Tunisia  2011   1.4078   900.7   382.4   250.4   52.2   685.0  76.1%  215.7  23.9%

 2012   1.5619   846.2   358.9   298.6   49.7   707.2  83.6%  139.0  16.4%

  2013   1.6247   986.8   386.5   338.0   44.6   769.1  85.8% 140.0 14.2%

 2014 1.7000 915.3 415.8 298.0 42.6 756.4 87.0% 158.9 13.0%

 2015 2.0221 830.3 379.2 232.9 68.9 681.0 82.2% 149.3 17.9%

 U.A.E.  2011   3.6725   6,513.8   1,121.2   3,479.6   635.2   5,236.0  80.4%  1277.8  19.6%

 2012   3.6728   7,154.6   1,091.0   3,808.9   632.1   5,532.0  77.3%  1622.6  22.7%

 2013   3.6725   8,036.8   1,226.9   4,426.6   465.8    6,119.3  76.1%   1,917.4  23.9%

 2014 3.6730 8,473.1 1,384.4  4,426.6  453.8   6,119.3  72.2% 2,353.8 27.8%

 2015 3.6725 9,783.9 1,532.5  5,367.0  448.4   7,347.9  75.1% 2,436.0 24.9%

 Yemen  2011   213.8000   80.6   18.3   42.6   12.5   73.4  91.1%  7.2  8.9%

 2012   214.3508   85.5   17.8   45.6   14.0   77.4  90.5%  8.1  9.5%

 2013   214.8900   82.7   19.0   39.5   15.1   73.6  89.0%   9.1  11.0%

 2014   214.8900   n/a  19.8 45.0 15.9 80.7  n/a   n/a   n/a  

 2015   214.8900   n/a  17.6 38.7 9.5 65.8  n/a   n/a   n/a  

The premium figures are in local currency for Iraq only

 Iraq  2011  288,171.0  29,952.0 170,001.0 40,014.0 239,967.0 83.3% 48,204 16.7%

2012   n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a n/a  n/a n/a

2013   n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

2014   n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

2015   n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 
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Key economic & demographic indicators - 2011 to 2015

Country Year Exchange 
Rate

Total  
GPI in US$

million

 Premium 
per capita 

US$ 

 GDP per 
capita US$ 

Premium as 
% of GDP

Population
in

million

GDP in US$ 
million

 Algeria  2011  72.9379  1,188.4 33.01 4,917 0.7%   36.00   177,000  

 2012  77.5360  1,240.3 33.98 5,096 0.7%   36.50   186,000  

 2013  80.3520  1,428.7 38.61 5,681 0.7%   37.00   210,183 

 2014 80.5790 1,475.5 36.98 5,664 0.7% 39.90 226,000

 2015 100.6914 1,222.6 30.82 4,205 0.7% 39.67 166,800

 Bahrain  2011   0.3769   546.1  413.71 19,697 2.1%   1.32   26,000  

 2012   0.3769   634.0  480.30 20,332 2.4%   1.32   26,838  

 2013   0.3769  685.5 507.78 24,444 2.1%   1.35   33,000 

 2014   0.3769  718.4 532.15 25,219 2.1% 1.35 34,045

 2015   0.3769  721.9 523.12 22,555 2.3% 1.38 31,126

 Egypt(1)   2011   5.6219   1,678.8  20.06 2,820 0.7%   83.70   236,000  

 2012   6.0561   1,770.5  21.10 2,913 0.7%   83.90   244,400  

 2013   6.8886   1,812.1  22.07 3,313 0.7%   82.10   271,973 

 2014 7.0900  1,812.1  21.73 3,429 0.6% 83.40 286,000

 2015 7.6913  2,168.4  23.70 3,615 0.7% 91.51 330,779

 Jordan  2011   0.7080   598.3  94.97 4,444 2.1%   6.30   28,000  

  2012   0.7080   679.7  104.57 4,769 2.2%   6.50   31,000  

 2013   0.7090   692.2  104.88 5,152 2.0%   6.60   34,000 

 2014 0.7090 738.8 99.84 4,939 2.0% 7.40 36,550

 2015 0.7090 776.1 102.30 4,943 2.1% 7.59 37,517

 Kuwait  2011   0.2760   698.2  240.76 57,931 0.4%   2.90   168,000  

  2012   0.2816   763.7  263.34 57,931 0.5%  2.90   168,000  

  2013   0.2838  815.0 281.31 54,368 0.5% 3.37  183,219 

 2014 0.2838 869.2 248.34 51,143 0.5% 3.50 179,000

 2015 0.3039 1,048.0 269.40 29,316 0.9% 3.89 114,041

 Lebanon  2011 1,504.0000   1,261.1  293.28 9,767 3.0%   4.30   42,000  

 2012 1,504.0000   1,294.9  301.14 10,186 3.0%   4.30   43,800  

 2013 1,505.0000   1,389.2  323.07 10,314 3.1%   4.30   44,352 

 2014 1,507.5000 1,479.2 301.89 9,388 3.2% 4.90 46,000

 2015 1,501.8000 1,521.0 260.00 8,049 3.2% 5.85 47,085

 Libya(3)  2011   1.2251   140.7  21.65 12,262 0.2%   6.50   79,700  

 2012   1.2251   273.9  42.14 14,108 0.3%   6.50   91,700  

 2013   1.2515   n/a   n/a  12,170  n/a  6.20  75,456 

 2014 1.1950  n/a   n/a  6,661  n/a  6.20 41,300

 2015 1.3921  n/a   n/a  5,534  n/a  6.27 34,699

 Mauritania(4)  2011   288.0800  12.4 3.60 1,192 0.3%  3.44   4,100  

 2012   288.0800  27.3 7.71 1,268 0.6%  3.54   4,490  

 2013 288.0800 28.3 7.65 1,359 0.6% 3.70  5,028 

 2014 292.5000 28.3 7.45 1,128 0.7% 3.80 4,286

 2015 317.6500 30.3 7.46 1,340 0.6% 4.06 5,442

 Morocco  2011   8.2013   2,920.4  90.41 2,954 3.1%   32.30   95,400  

 2012   8.2471   3,162.3  97.00 2,945 3.3%   32.60   96,000  

 2013   8.4055   3,164.8  96.19 3,191 3.0%   32.90   105,000 

 2014 8.4063 3,356.9 100.21 3,360 3.0% 33.50 112,552

 2015 9.9666 3,052.6 88.98 2,932 3.0% 34.30 100,593

 Oman  2011   0.3850   733.0  244.33 19,000 1.3%   3.00   57,000  

2012   0.3845   738.6  232.26 22,956 1.0%   3.18   73,000  

2013   0.3850   774.5  213.36 20,937 1.0% 3.63  76,000  

2014 0.3850 1,035.0 486.4 20,659 1.3% 3.90  80,570  

2015 0.3845 1,124.0 250.3 15,553 1.6% 4.49  69,831  
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Key economic & demographic indicators - 2011 to 2015

Country Year Exchange 
Rate

Total  
GPI in US$

million

 Premium 
per capita 

US$ 

 GDP per 
capita US$ 

Premium as 
% of GDP

Population
in

million

GDP in US$ 
million

 Palestine   2011   3.5880  146.0 35.01 1,549 2.3%   4.17   6,460  

  2012   3.5880   144.4  34.63 1,630 2.1%  4.17   6,797  

  2013   3.5880   158.7  35.90 1,561 2.3%  4.42   6,899 

 2014  3.5880  171.0 37.58 1,516 2.5% 4.55 6,900

 2015  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  4.65 n/a

 Qatar(5)  2011   3.6408   1,154.6  641.44 96,111 0.7%   1.80   173,000  

 2012   3.6408    1,114.6  586.63 108,947 0.5%   1.90   207,000  

 2013   3.6409   1,471.0  677.88 93,295 0.7% 2.17  202,450  

 2014 3.6400  1,471.0  700.48 100,048 0.7%   2.10  210,100

 2015 3.6404  n/a   n/a  74,163  n/a    2.22  164,641

 Saudi Arabia(6)  2011   3.7500   4,934.4  176.23 21,321 0.8%   28.00   597,000  

 2012   3.7503   5,645.8  196.72 21,254 0.9%   28.70   610,000  

 2013   3.7500   6,730.5  233.70 26,181 0.9%   28.80   754,000 

 2014 3.7520 7,746.5 263.49 26,458 1.0% 29.40 777,870

 2015 3.7500 9,712.1 307.93 20,482 1.5% 31.54 646,002

 Sudan(2)   2011   2.6769   289.1  6.83 1,537 0.4%   42.30   65,000  

  2012   2.6769   337.2  7.97 1,976 0.4%   42.30   83,600  

  2013 5.7013 315.6 7.44 2,011 0.4%   42.40  85,272

 2014 2.6769  n/a   n/a 2,080  n/a   42.40  88,171

 2015 6.0969  n/a   n/a 2,415  n/a   40.23  97,156

 Syria   2011   50.0000   280.9   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

  2012 139.770  150.6   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

  2013 139.7700 155.7  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

 2014 168.7000 94.3  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

 2015 221.0968 32.2  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a  

 Tunisia  2011   1.4078   900.7  84.18 4,299 2.0%   10.70   46,000  

 2012   1.5619   846.2  78.06 4,328 1.8%   10.84   46,920  

 2013   1.6247   986.8  90.95 4,240 2.1%   10.85   46,000 

 2014 1.7000 915.3 82.46 4,425 1.9% 11.10 49,122

 2015 2.0221 830.3 74.77 3,875 1.9% 11.10 43,015

 U.A.E.  2011   3.6725   6,513.8  1,357.04 70,625 1.9%   4.80   339,000  

 2012   3.6728   7,154.6  1,460.12 74,286 2.0%   4.90   364,000  

 2013   3.6725   8,036.8  864.17 41,269 2.1%   9.30   383,799 

 2014 3.6730 8,473.1 901.40 43,723 2.1% 9.40 411,000

 2015 3.6725 9,783.9 1,068.11 40,425 2.6% 9.16 370,296

 Yemen  2011   213.8000   80.6  3.25 1,452 0.2%   24.80   36,000  

2012   214.3508   85.5  3.38 1,653 0.2%   25.30   41,825  

2013   214.8900   82.7  3.25 1,415 0.2%   25.41   35,955  

2014   214.8900   n/a   n/a 1,655  n/a 26.18 43,331

2015   214.8900   n/a   n/a 1,439  n/a 26.23 37,734

The premium figures are in local currency for Iraq only

 Iraq  2011  n/a  288,171.0  n/a  n/a  n/a  32.96 115,500

2012  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a n/a  n/a 

2013  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

2014  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 

2015  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a 
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Arig is committed to follow international Best Practices of 
Corporate Governance. We firmly believe that there is a link 
between strong ethical standards, good governance and 
the creation of shareholder value. In our communication 
with stakeholders and the general business community, 
we aim to be fully transparent through high standards of 
disclosure.

Bahrain Corporate Governance Code

The Company follows the Bahrain Corporate Governance 
Code (“Code”). This Corporate Governance Report is 
also included as a separate item as part of agenda for the 
Annual General Meeting.

Framework

The Company, through its Board of Directors, maintains 
a governance framework in all areas of its operations, 
which includes formalised policies, procedures, guidelines 
and relevant management reporting requirements. Arig’s 
governance practices are reviewed on a regular basis and 
amended from time to time.

The Board of Directors

The members of the Board are elected and can be 
terminated by the shareholders of the Company in 
accordance with the provisions under the Articles of 
Association. The Board holds the ultimate responsibility 
for the overall direction, supervision and control of the 
Company. It regularly assesses the Company’s financial 
and commercial performance and approves its business 
plan. The Board continuously oversees the corporate 
governance processes in order to ensure good standards 
within the Company. The Board further reviews and 
assesses the adequacy of the management of all risks the 
Company may be exposed to.

The current Board was elected by the shareholders at   
the Annual General Meeting in March 2014 for a period 
of three years whose term will end at the 2017 Annual 
General Meeting. Formalised Board procedures enhance 
the professional development of the Board members and 
include induction training to new directors, continuous 
learning and self-evaluation. The names of the current 
directors and biographical details are set out in pages 30 
and 31.

Members of the Board are all non-executive. At the 
beginning of the year, five out of  nine members were  
independent non-executive directors but due to the 
resignation of Mr. Khalid Ali Al Bustani and re-classification 
of Mr. Mohamed Ahmed Al Karbi as non-independent 
director, the strength of the Board has been reduced from 
nine to eight members with three directors remaining as 
independent by the end of the year. The Board formally 
reviews and evaluates its own performance together with 
the performance of the individual directors, as required by 
the Code.

Board Committees

While principal matters are handled by the Board, separate 
Committees are mandated to assist the Board in carrying out 
its duties in an efficient manner. The Executive Committee 
aids in the co-ordination, guidance and monitoring of 
the Company’s management and performance. The 
Audit Committee oversees financial reporting, internal 
controls and compliance with relevant applicable laws and 
regulations. The Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
is tasked to review the nomination and compensation of 
the Board of Directors and the members of the Company’s 
General Management. All Board Committees meet 
periodically to achieve their objectives and also annually 
assess their own efficiency.

Board Meetings

According to the Articles of Association and local 
regulations, the Board is required to meet at least four 
times in a year. In addition to the five meetings held in 
person during 2016, the Board approved the second and 
the third quarter results through circulation of a resolution.

The following table lists the number of meetings held during 
2016, including Board Committees and the individual 
attendance:
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Directors Board 
Meetings (5)

Executive 
Committee 

Meetings (4)

Audit 
Committee 

Meetings (5)

Nomination & 
Remuneration 
Committee (6)

Khalid Jassim Bin Kalban* 5 3 N N

Khalid Ali Al Bustani*  *** - N N 1

Dr. Fouad A A Alfalah* 5 N 5 4

Sultan Ahmed Al Ghaith* 5 N N 6

Fathi M A Elhagie 5 N 5 N

Mohamed Saif Al Suwaidi 5 4 N N

Saeed Mohamed Al Bahhar 5 4 N 6

Mohamed Saif Al Hameli 4 3 N N

Mohamed Ahmed Al Karbi** 5 N 5 N

Management

Responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) are separated. The Chairman of the Board 
is responsible for the leadership of the Board, ensuring 
its effectiveness in all aspects of its role and setting its 
agenda, taking into account the issues relevant to the 
Company and the concerns of all Board members.

The CEO executes leadership in the day-to-day 
management of the Company. The General Management 
team headed by CEO is responsible for the implementation 
of the Board strategies and the monitoring of its day-to-
day operations. The team includes the General Manager - 
Reinsurance, General Manager - Finance & Administration, 
and Assistant General Manager – Reinsurance, as 
its members. The names of members of the General 
Management Team are set out in page 32 together with 
their biographical details.

Directors’ and General Management Compensation

The Directors’ remuneration is determined in accordance 
with the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the 
provision under the Company’s Articles of Association, and 
is approved by the shareholders. Directors’ compensation

includes remuneration, allowances & reimbursement of 
expenses. The compensation of the General Management 
is determined by the Board of Directors based on the 
recommendations of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, and includes salaries, allowances, 
reimbursement of expenses, post-employment benefits 
and performance related incentives (for further information 
please see page 78). Details as required under the Code 
are held at Company’s premises for the availability of the 
shareholders.

Organisational Structure

The Company has put in place a detailed organisational 
structure (shown on page 29) to achieve the Company’s 
objectives, its strategic development and internal controls.

Management Committees

In order to assist the CEO in guiding and monitoring the 
functional departments within the Company, a number 
of internal management Committees are operative. 
These include the areas of Reinsurance Management, 
Information Technology and Retrocession. Members are 
drawn from within the Company and in accordance with 
their relevant areas of expertise.

• N - Not member

• * - Independent non-executive Director

• ** - Reclassified as non-Independent Director at 31 December 2016

• *** - Resigned on 20 March 2016
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Succession Planning

The Company recognises the value of its human resource 
and the significance of ensuring qualified and orderly 
successions. It operates a succession planning framework 
covering key positions within the Company, and talent 
development programs based on periodical training needs 
analysis. The Nomination & Remuneration Committee is in 
charge of reviewing and approval of the succession plan. 
By year-end, three members of the General Management 
team retired and were successfully succeeded.

Policy on the Employment of Relatives
 
As required by the CBB Rulebook, the Company is in the 
process of enhancing the policy on the employment of 
relatives of the approved persons.

Key Persons Dealing in Arig Securities

Arig has an established policy with regard to key persons 
dealing in Arig securities, which complies with the Bahrain 
Bourse guidelines and the Rulebook Volume 6 (Capital 
Markets) issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain. During the 
year, the Company has complied with relevant reporting 
and monitoring requirements as they are stipulated under 
these regulations.

Following are the details of Arig shares held by members 
of the Board, including their representatives, and members 
of the General Management, including their spouses, 
children or other persons under their control:

Directors General 
Management

Shares held at 1 January 2016 101,270,717    9,166

Add: Shares acquired during 
the year - -

Less: Shares held by director  
resigned during the year 30,000 -

Shares held at 31 December 
2016 101,240,717    9,166

Investor Relations

Arig makes considerable effort to maintain active  
investor relations through open, fair and transparent 
communication. A dedicated shareholder affairs unit 
supervised by an investor relations officer is responsible 
for the timely dissemination of all relevant information to 
its stakeholders. The Company’s website (www.arig.net) 
provides detailed information on corporate governance, 
business and financial information and includes a secure 
portal for shareholders.

The Annual General Meeting of shareholders is held within 
90 days of the close of the financial year in accordance 

with legal and regulatory requirements. Notice to the 
Annual General Meeting is released well in advance to 
shareholders, regulators and  stock exchanges. Copies of 
the Annual Report and accounts are made available  at least 
one week prior to the meeting ensuring that shareholders 
have sufficient time to prepare for the discussion of the 
Company’s performance with the Board of Directors.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Arig aspires to be a good corporate citizen. The Company 
operates a corporate social responsibility program, which 
directs its efforts towards worthy projects and individuals in 
need in Bahrain.

Capital and Shares

Arig’s authorised capital is comprised of 500 million 
ordinary shares with a nominal value of US$ 1 each. The 
issued, subscribed and paid-up capital is US$ 220 million. 
Shares are held by more than 4,500 shareholders mostly 
throughout the GCC countries. These are tradable by 
people of any nationality through the stock exchanges 
where Arig is listed: the Bahrain Bourse and the Dubai 
Financial Market. Further shareholding information is 
given on page no. 65 of this Annual Report.

Compliance

Arig has established a Board approved comprehensive 
compliance framework covering all rules and regulations 
applicable to the Company’s business operations. The 
Company has a separate compliance unit headed by 
a Compliance Officer. This unit ensures that Arig meets 
all regulatory requirements stipulated by the Central 
Bank of Bahrain and the Bahrain Ministry of Industry 
and Commerce. It also makes sure that the Company is 
in compliance with all rules and regulations of the stock 
exchanges where Arig is listed. There were no penalties 
incurred during the year 2016.

Internal Control

The  Board  is  holding  the  ultimate  responsibility  for the 
functioning of all internal controls within the Company. A 
network of policies, guidelines, procedures, authorisation 
levels and performance monitoring is operative in all areas 
of the Company’s operations, including periodical reviews 
and updates, where appropriate. All significant authority 
limits for underwriting, claims and other operational 
areas are reviewed and approved by the Board. In daily 
operations, the CEO safeguards the application of all 
control mechanisms. He further ensures that a positive 
control environment is maintained through ethical corporate 
behaviour and personal integrity. He provides leadership 
and direction to General Management and reviews the 
way the business is controlled. All transactions with related 
parties are conducted at arm’s length.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee periodically 
reviews the application of the Company’s internal control 
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framework and the assessments of these controls from 
the evaluation reports produced by Arig’s internal and 
external auditors. The Committee then advises the 
Board of Directors on the status and effectiveness of the 
Company’s control environment and necessary action 
taken by the management to strengthen any identified 
control weaknesses.

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)

Arig applies a corresponding ERM regime that aims at 
closely monitoring the risks the Company could be exposed 
to and their potential effects on capital as well as financial 
and operational performance. Regular reviews by the 
Risk Management function and all  layers  of Arig’s  senior 
and  middle management are carried out to assess the 
development and trends in the Company’s exposures and, 
whenever possible and reasonable, introduce measures to 
mitigate the potential for negative effects.

The Company maintains an ERM framework under the 
responsibility of the Head of Risk Management who reports 
to the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors. The 
status quo is kept in a Risk Register, the positions of which 
are reviewed and actively managed with the goal to keep 
the use of capital at risk at efficient performance levels 
without over-exposing the shareholders’ equity interest.

Arig makes use of leading international actuarial firms for 
independent professional advice who assist in maintaining 
its Internal Capital Adequacy (ICA) model, which will 
consider and quantify the capital amount required to 
support all identified risk exposures that are incurred as 
part of the Company’s business operations.

Our key risk categories are underwriting risk, reserve risk, 
market risk, operational risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
Property reinsurance with its exposure to natural and man- 
made catastrophes represents the largest class in Arig’s 
book; therefore it comes as no surprise that underwriting 
risk dominates the quantum of our risk exposures. It 
is followed by reserve risk, which is a reflection of the 
Company’s long-standing operating history and former 
activities in discontinued underwriting lines. Market risk, 
i.e. the risk of changes in the financial markets, ranks third 
and followed by operational risks. Credit risk takes the 
least amount of capital funding.

The Company has a number of risk avoidance and 
mitigation strategies in place to manage its key risk 
exposures.

• Risk Appetite Statement - Arig maintains a defined 
statement of its risk appetite expressing its maximum 
tolerance to losses for each of the main risk 
categories. The Risk Appetite Statement represents 
a key document in guiding the Company’s business 
conduct and it has been periodically reviewed and 
approved by the Board of Directors.

• Underwriting risk is contained through a mixture 

of underwriting guidelines that are system and 
management controlled, pricing tools and reinsurance 
covers with highly rated retro markets to cap peak 
exposures.

• Reserve risk is managed through regular internal and 
external reviews to ensure that reserving is prudent 
and adequate. Our internal reviews are supported by 
an annually conducted, detailed estimation and report 
by professional actuaries.

• Market risk exposure is controlled by a basket of 
investment guidelines and policies that would include 
maximum allocations to asset classes, trend analyses, 
and performance monitoring tools, including stop loss 
disposal orders.

• Operational risk represents a basket of individual 
exposures, most of them relatively moderate in 
amount, which the Company closely monitors and 
strives to reduce individually. The risk of business 
interruption caused by political violence received 
Arig’s full attention and was quickly mitigated through 
the establishment of a warm site at the Company’s 
subsidiary’s office in Dubai. With contingency plans in 
place, this warm site can be upgraded to a hot site 
within the span of a few days, should a situation ever 
call for it.

• Credit risk is managed by stringent counter-party 
checks and Arig’s preference is to deal with solid 
and, for the most part, highly rated market entities. 
At the same time, receivables are monitored through 
ageing analysis and outstanding balances are actively 
pursued.

• Finally, liquidity risk represents the actual or perceived 
loss to the Group arising from a potential inability 
either to meet claims, investments or operational 
obligations. Arig’s investment, claims management 
and liquidity risk management policies give due 
consideration to liquidity risk management and as a 
matter of prudence Arig maintains liquid assets well 
above its annually modelled liquidity requirements.

External Auditors

External auditors are appointed by the shareholders 
through the General Assembly. The current auditors, KPMG 
of Bahrain, being eligible for re-election, were reappointed 
for the Financial Year 2016 based on the recommendation 
of the Board. 



28

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)

Security Ratings

A.M. Best through its most recent rating published on 
Arig on 21 December 2016, has upgraded the Company’s 
investment grade status with a Financial Strength Rating 
of “A– (Excellent)” from “B++ (Good)” and the Long-Term 
Issuer Credit Rating to “a-” from “bbb+”; the outlook for 
both ratings has been revised to stable from positive. In 
Best’s opinion, “the rating upgrades  reflect Arig’s ability 
to take strategic decisions to eliminate underperforming 
business segments and optimise its business profile to 
generate stronger prospective earnings.” 

Solvency

Statutory Solvency requirements are determined by Arig’s 
regulator in Bahrain, the Central Bank of Bahrain. The 
minimum solvency is defined with reference to a prescribed 
premium and claims basis. The solvency position of the 
Company including its Branches as at 31 December 2016 
is given below:

(in US$ ‘000)

2016 2015

Capital available 203,389 173,664

Required margin of solvency 38,074 33,615

Total excess capital available over the 
required margin of solvency 165,315 140,049

* Takaful Re Ltd. stopped writing business since December 2015
** Singapore & Labuan Branches ceased its operations during 2016

Arab Insurance Group (B.S.C.)

Reinsurance

Bahrain Operations

Subsidiaries

ARIG GROUP STRUCTURE

Singapore Branch**

Labuan Branch**

Takaful Re Ltd. - UAE 
(54%)*

Gulf Warranties W.L.L.
Bahrain (100%)

Arig Capital Limited  
(UK), (100%)

Mauritius 
Representative Office Arig Insurance 

Management (DIFC) 
Limited - UAE (100%)
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ORGANISATION CHART

* Also designated as Corporate Secretary

Group Internal Audit

Compliance

Finance

Investments & Asset 
Management

Claims & Technical 
Accounting

Information &  
Communication Systems

General Administration

Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee

Audit Committee

Subsidiaries

Enterprise Risk Management

Shareholders Affairs

Human Resources 
& Development

General Management 
Committee

Board of Directors

Executive Committee
(including Investments & ERM)

Chief Executive Officer

Assistant General 
Manager - Reinsurance

Treaties from
Africa & Indian Subcontinent

Treaties from Middle East, 
Turkey, Russia, Eastern Europe

Lloyd’s Accounts

Property

Engineering

Extended Warranties

Treaties from Far East

Casualty

Marine

Life & Medical

Corporate Communications
& Business Planning

General Manager - 
Finance & Administration*General Manager - Reinsurance



30

BIOGRAPHIES OF BOARD MEMBERS

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)

BOARD MEMBERS

Khalid Jassim Bin Kalban
Chairman of the Board and member of the Executive
Committee

B.Sc., Management Major Metropolitan State College, 
Denver, Colorado, U.S.A.

A longtime Arig director, Khalid Bin Kalban joined Arig in 
1998 and has been in the same role ever since. Bin Kalban 
co-chairs Union Properties (PJSC) and Al Mal Capital 
in UAE. He sits on the Board of Directors for National 
General Insurance Company PSC, where he chairs the 
Audit Committee and Investment Committee, and he is on 
the Board for Takaful – Re Ltd. In addition, he is a member 
of the Board of First Energy Bank B.S.C.(c) and Arcapita 
Investment Management B.S.C.(c) in Bahrain and Islamic 
Bank of Asia - Singapore.

While he is playing all these key roles Bin Kalban 
spearheads the growth strategy of Dubai Investments 
PJSC since 1998 as the MD & CEO of Dubai Investments  
and Chairman of its subsidiaries and joint ventures.

Dr. Fouad A A Alfalah
Vice Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and member of the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee

B.A., The American University, Lebanon; M.A. and Ph.D, 
The American University, U.S.A.

Dr. Fouad Alfalah has been a Director of the Company 
since October 2003 and Chairman of the Audit Committee 
since April 2005. He is also a member of the Nomination 
& Remuneration Committee. He served as Chairman & 
Director General of Public Authority for Youth & Sports, 
Kuwait and also as Third Secretary at the Kuwait Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs. He also serves as an Assistant Professor 
at the College of Administrative Sciences-Department of 
Public Administration, Kuwait University. He also serves as 
Chairman of Audit Committee-Takaful Re Limited.

Sultan Ahmed Al Ghaith
Director and member of the Nomination & Remuneration
Committee

B.Sc., U.A.E. University, U.A.E.

Sultan Ahmed Al Ghaith has been a Director of the 
Company since October 2004. He served as Under 
Secretary & Director General of General Pensions & 
Social Security Authority, U.A.E., until April 2008. He holds 
directorship on the Boards of Takaful Re Ltd., the Emirates 
Co-operative Society, Consumer Cooperative Union and 
Gulf Investment Company, U.A.E.

Fathi M A Elhagie
(Representing Central Bank of Libya)
Director and member of the Audit Committee

High Banking Diploma in Banking Studies, from Arab
Institute of Banking Studies, Jordan

Fathi M A Elhagie is the Manager, Banking Operations 
Department of the Central Bank of Libya, Libya. He has 
been a Director of the Company, since March 2008.

Mohamed Saif Al Suwaidi
(Representing Emirates Investment Authority, U.A.E.) 
Director and Chairman of the Executive Committee

Bachelor of Commerce from U.A.E. University, U.A.E.

Mohamed Saif Al Suwaidi has been a member of the Board 
of Directors since March 2014. Further to Arig, he holds 
directorship on the Boards of the Emirates Investment 
Authority, Emirates Integrated Telecommunication 
Company, U.A.E.
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Saeed Mohamed Al Bahhar 
(Representing Emirates Development Bank, U.A.E.) 
Director, Chairman of the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee and member of the Executive Committee

B.Sc. Economics, Jacksonville University, U.S.A.

Saeed Mohamed Al Bahhar has been a member of the 
Board of Directors, since March 2014. He holds directorship 
on the Boards of the Emirates Development Bank, Takaful 
Re Ltd, U.A.E., Arab Satellite Organisation, K.S.A. and 
Hellas-Sat Cyprus.

Mohamed Saif Al Hameli
(Representing General Pensions & Social Security
Authority (GPSSA), U.A.E.)
Director and member of the Executive Committee

M.Sc., California State Polytechnic University, U.S.A.

Mohamed Saif Al Hameli has been a member of the 
Board of Directors since March 2014. He also serves 
as Acting General Manager and the Executive Director 
of Investments in General Pensions & Social Security 
Authority (GPSSA), U.A.E.

Mohamed Ahmed Al Karbi
Director and member of the Audit Committee

Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering, American
University, Sharjah; MBA from Emirates University, U.A.E.

Mohamed Ahmed Al Karbi has been a member of the 
Board of Directors since May 2014. He holds Directorships 
on the Boards of Al Mushref Co-operative Society and 
Takaful Re Ltd., U.A.E.
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Yassir Albaharna
Chief Executive Officer

MBA (High Honours) & M. Eng. (Manufacturing), Boston 
University, Boston; B. Eng. (Mechanical), McGill University, 
Montreal; Fellow & Chartered Insurer, Chartered Insurance 
Institute, U.K.

Yassir Albaharna joined Arig in 1987 and held a variety 
of underwriting and managerial positions throughout his 
career. Heading up the new management team, Yassir 
was appointed as CEO in April 2006. He also serves as 
Chairman of Gulf Warranties (Bahrain), Arig Capital Limited 
(London), and FAIR Oil & Energy Insurance Syndicate 
(Bahrain). Yassir further holds Board memberships in 
Takaful Re (DIFC), Arima Insurance Software (Bahrain), 
FAIR Non-Life Reinsurance Pool (Istanbul), GlobeMed 
(Bahrain), the International Insurance Society (New York), 
Federation of Afro-Asian Insurers & Reinsurers (Cairo), 
Association of Insurers and Reinsurers of Developing 
Countries (Philippines), Specific Council for Vocational 
Training - Banking Sector (Bahrain) as well as Board 
of Trustees of Human Resources Development Fund - 
Banking & Financial Sector (Bahrain).

Andreas Weidlich
General Manager, Reinsurance

Graduate in Economics; Free University of Berlin, Germany

Prior to joining Arig in April 2006, Andreas held senior 
managerial positions at Allianz Risk Transfer (Bermuda), 
Allianz Reinsurance Asia Pacific, Singapore and at Munich 
Re in Munich & Singapore.

Nagarajan Kannan
General Manager, Finance & Administration

Fellow member of the Chartered Insurance Institute, U.K. 
(FCII) & Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, 
U.K. (FCMA); Associate member of The Institute of 
Company Secretaries of India (ACS) & the Cost & Works 
Accountants of India (AICWA)

Nagarajan  Kannan  joined  Arig  in  April  1989  and  has 
been part of the General Management Team since April 
2007. He currently holds Board memberships at ARIMA 
Insurance Software, Gulf Warranties, GlobeMed Bahrain 
and Arig Capital Limited, U.K. Prior to joining the Company, 
he held managerial positions in leading insurance and 
manufacturing companies in India. During the year 2013 
Kannan was appointed as General Manager, Finance & 
Administration.

Salah Al Maraj
Assistant General Manager, Reinsurance

Bachelor of Arts, Kuwait University, Kuwait

Salah Al Maraj joined the Company in May 1982. He held 
senior underwriting positions before being appointed 
to the General Management in October 2009. Among 
others, Salah holds immediate responsibility for Arig’s core 
markets in the Middle East and neighbouring territories.

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)
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2016 2015

PERFORMANCE RATIOS

Premium growth (annual change in gross premiums written) 11.3% -30.1%
Retention ratio (gross retained premiums over gross premiums written) 84.9% 92.0%
Combined ratio (aggregate of expenses over net written premiums & losses  
over net earned premiums) 96.8% 106.6%

Return on investments (proportion of investment income over average  
investment assets) 2.6% 2.0%

Return on equity (proportion of net profit to average shareholders’ equity) 3.7% -1.7%
Growth in shareholders’ equity 5.1% -7.7%

LEVERAGE RATIOS

Underwriting exposure (ratio of gross premiums written to shareholders’ equity) 95.6% 90.3%
Net technical provisions/ Shareholders’ equity 229.8% 251.3%
Net technical provisions/ Net premiums written 283.0% 302.5%

LIQUIDITY RATIOS

Investment assets/ Net technical provisions 125.0% 121.7%

Liquid assets/ Net technical provisions 120.9% 117.8%

OTHER

Solvency ratio (ratio of shareholders’ equity to net earned premiums) 142.2% 111.1%
Shareholders’ equity/Economic capital 1.94 1.80
Earnings per share attributable to shareholders (US$) 0.05 -0.02
Book value per share (US$) 1.30 1.23
Price to book value per share 26.2% 30.9%



34

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)



35

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



36

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of Arab Insurance Group (the Company) and 
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2016, and the consolidated statements of 
income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2016, and its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2016. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Description How the matter was addressed in our audit

We focused on this matter because :

• the Group has significant insurance provisions 
(representing 82% of total liabilities) relating to 
outstanding claims, claims that have been incurred 
at reporting date but have not yet been reported to 
the Group, and unearned premiums.

• The valuation of outstanding claims and other 
insurance provisions is a key judgement area due 
to the level of subjectivity inherent in estimating the 
impact of claims, in particular claims that have been 
incurred at reporting date but have not yet been 
reported to the Group.

Our audit procedures included :

• testing the design and operating effectiveness of 
the key controls around reserving process, reported 
claims, unreported claims and unearned premium;

• reviewing  a sample of outstanding claims and related 
reinsurance recoveries, focusing on those with most 
significant impact on the financial statements, to 
assess whether claims and related recoveries are 
appropriately estimated; 

• assessing the key reserving assumptions including 
loss ratios, frequency and severity of claims, and  
reasonableness of estimate made by the Group. We 
also evaluated whether reserving was consistent in 
approach, with sufficient justification for changes in 
assumptions. We used our industry knowledge to 
benchmark the Group’s reserving methodologies and 
estimates of losses. Our audit focused on lines of 
business with most inherent uncertainty. Furthermore, 
we were assisted by our own actuarial specialists to 
understand and evaluate Group’s actuarial practice 
and provisions established. We also considered 
the work and findings of external actuarial experts 
engaged by the management to corroborate our own 
findings; and 

• assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures 
related to technical insurance provisions by reference 
to relevant accounting standards.

To the Shareholders of Arab Insurance Group (B.S.C.)                                                                  

Technical insurance provisions

Refer to Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Valuation and Impairment of investments 

Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Description How the matter was addressed in our audit

We focused on this matter because:

• of the significance of investments (representing 50% 
of total assets) and its contribution to the operations 
and performance of the Group. 

 We don’t consider these investments to be at high 
risk of significant misstatement, or to be subject to 
a significant risk of judgment because most of the 
investments comprise liquid, quoted investments; 
and 

• the Group makes subjective judgments over both 
timing of recognition of impairment of available-for-
sale investments and the estimation of the amount of 
such impairment.

Our audit procedures included:

• testing the design and operating effectiveness 
of controls over the process of identification and 
assessment of equity and debt securities for 
impairment; 

• testing the valuation of quoted securities by agreeing 
the prices used in the valuation to independent 
sources;

• examining whether the Group has identified all 
available-for-sale-investments that have     experienced 
a decline in fair value below cost; 

• assessing if there has been a default event or 
significant drop in rating of individual debt security;

• evaluating whether the Group’s application of the 
significant or prolonged test is consistent with the 
relevant accounting standard; and

• assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures 
related to classification and impairment of   investments 
by reference to relevant accounting standards.

Description How the matter was addressed in our audit

We focused on this matter because: 

• the Group has significant insurance receivables from 
ceding companies  and recoveries from reinsurance 
companies (representing 10% of total assets). The 
Group faces a risk of non-recoverability of receivables 
and recoveries due to financial difficulties of the 
counter parties. 

• estimation of the recoverable amount and determining 
the level of impairment allowance involves judgement 
and estimation uncertainty. 

Our audit procedures included

• testing the design and operating effectiveness of 
controls over the process of collection and identification 
of doubtful balances; 

• checking reconciliation of statement of accounts and 
receipts subsequent to the year-end, focusing on 
those accounts with the most significant potential 
impact on the consolidated financial statements:

• challenging the Group’s assumptions on the 
calculation of accrued premiums and assessing the 
recoverability thereof; and 

• assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures 
related to insurance receivables, insurance deposits, 
accrued income, and impairment allowance by 
reference to relevant accounting standards.

Impairment of insurance receivables and recoveries 

Refer to Note 9 and 11 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
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Other information 

The board of directors is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the annual 
report, but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Prior to the 
date of this auditors’ report, we obtained the Directors’ 
report and the remaining sections of the annual report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other 
information that we have obtained prior to the date of 
this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of board of directors for the 
consolidated financial statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as the 
board of directors determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
board of directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the board of 
directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of board of directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those board of directors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)
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We also provide the board of directors with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

Report on other regulatory requirements

As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law 
and Volume 3 of the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) Rule 
Book, we report that: 

a) the Company has maintained proper accounting 
records and the consolidated financial statements are 
in agreement therewith; 

b) the financial information contained in the directors’ 
report is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements; 

c) we are not aware of any violations during the year of 
the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central 
Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the Rule 
Book (Volume 3, applicable provisions of Volume 6 and 
CBB directives), the CBB Capital Markets Regulations 
and associated Resolutions, the Bahrain Bourse 
rules and procedures or the terms of the Company’s 
memorandum and articles of association that would 
have had a material adverse effect on the business of 
the Company or on its financial position; and 

d) satisfactory explanations and information have been 
provided to us by management in response to all our 
requests.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this 
independent auditors’ report is Jaffar Al Qubaiti.

KPMG Fakhro
Partner Registration No. 83
13 February 2017

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
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AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016
(US$ ’000)

Note 2016 2015

ASSETS

Cash and bank balances 5 180,460 198,769

Investments 6 554,660 545,459

Accrued income 8 101,610 71,322

Insurance receivables 9 108,402 116,022

Insurance deposits 10 28,086 37,017

Deferred policy acquisition costs 17,800 20,400

Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions 11 83,818 65,850

Other assets 12 17,991 21,987

Property and equipment 13 21,588 22,236

1,114,415 1,099,062

LIABILITIES

Technical provisions 14 673,681 679,543

Insurance payables 17 61,571 44,606

Borrowings 18 41,000 44,000

Other liabilities 19 45,349 51,933

821,601 820,082

EQUITY

Attributable to shareholders of parent company 20

Share capital 220,000 220,000

Treasury stock (14,793) (14,793)

Reserves 37,684 33,750

Retained earnings 13,743 5,291

256,634 244,248

Non-controlling interests 21 36,180 34,732

292,814 278,980

1,114,415 1,099,062

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 13 February 2017 and signed on its 
behalf by:

Khalid J. Bin Kalban
Chairman

Dr. Fouad A A Alfalah
Vice Chairman

     Yassir Albaharna
     Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes 1 to 35 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

(US$ ’000)

Note 2016 2015

Gross premiums written 245,431 220,442

Net earned premiums 180,503 219,924

Claims and related expenses (119,412) (148,259)

Policy acquisition costs (46,370) (58,422)

Investment income attributable to insurance funds 23 11,123 8,542

Operating expenses 24 (17,508) (21,012)

Underwriting result 22 8,336 773

Investment income attributable to shareholders’ funds 23 8,166 5,752

Operating expenses – non underwriting activities 24 (8,042) (7,544)

Borrowing cost (866) (416)

Other income 25 5,516 5,945

Other expenses and provisions 26 (2,959) (12,134)

Profit (loss) for the year  10,151 (7,624)

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interests 989 (3,203)

Shareholders of parent company 9,162 (4,421)

10,151 (7,624)

Earnings per share attributable to shareholders  
(basic and diluted): 27 US$ 0.05   (0.02)

The accompanying notes 1 to 35 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(US$ ’000)

2016 2015

Profit (loss) for the year 10,151 (7,624)

Other comprehensive income

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss:

Changes on remeasurement of available for sale investments 1,101 (6,382)

Transfers for recognition of losses on disposal of available for sale investments 2,262 477

Other comprehensive income   3,363 (5,905)

Total comprehensive income  13,514 (13,529)

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interests 1,128 (3,130)

Shareholders of parent company 12,386 (10,399)

13,514 (13,529)

The accompanying notes 1 to 35 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accompanying notes 1 to 35 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(US$ ’000)

Share
capital

Treasury
stock

Reserves    Retained 
earnings

Attributable to 
shareholders 

of parent 
company

Non-
controlling 

interests

Total 
Equity

Legal Investment 
revaluation

Property 
revaluation Total

Balances at 31 December 2015 220,000 (14,793) 33,200 (5,195) 5,745 33,750 5,291 244,248 34,732 278,980

Net profit for the year - - - - - - 9,162 9,162 989 10,151

Changes on remeasurement of available for 
sale investments - - - 977 - 977 - 977 124 1,101

Transfers for recognition of  losses on 
disposal of available for sale investments - - - 2,247 - 2,247 - 2,247 15 2,262

Total comprehensive income for the year   - - - 3,224 - 3,224 9,162 12,386 1,128 13,514

Transfer of net depreciation on revalued 
property - - - - (184) (184) 184 - - -

Transfer to non-distributable reserves - - 894 - - 894 (894) - - -

Adjustment for minority’s share of subsidiary - - - - - - - - 320 320

Balances at 31 December 2016 220,000 (14,793) 34,094 (1,971) 5,561 37,684 13,743 256,634 36,180 292,814

Balances at 31 December 2014 220,000 (14,793) 33,144 783 5,930 39,857 19,485 264,549 37,862 302,411

Net loss for the year - - - - - - (4,421) (4,421) (3,203) (7,624)

Changes on remeasurement of available for 
sale investments - - - (6,311) - (6,311) - (6,311) (71) (6,382)

Transfers for recognition of  losses on 
disposal of available for sale investments

- - - 333 - 333 - 333 144 477

Total comprehensive income for the year   - - - (5,978) - (5,978) (4,421) (10,399) (3,130) (13,529)

Dividends paid - - - - - - (9,902) (9,902) - (9,902)

Transfer of net depreciation on revalued 
property

- - - - (185) (185) 185 - - -

Transfer to non-distributable reserves - - 56 - - 56 (56) - - -

Balances at 31 December 2015 220,000 (14,793) 33,200 (5,195) 5,745 33,750 5,291 244,248 34,732 278,980

Parent company balances at (note 34)

31 December 2016 220,000 (14,793) 33,957 (2,131) 5,561 37,387 14,040 256,634 - 256,634

31 December 2015 220,000 (14,793) 33,041 (5,190) 5,745 33,596 5,445 244,248 - 244,248

The accompanying notes 1 to 35 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(US$ ’000)

Note 2016 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Premiums received 250,560 308,434

Reinsurance premiums paid (38,955) (58,869)

Claims and acquisition costs paid (232,796) (250,677)

Reinsurance receipts in respect of claims 24,650 31,190

Investment income 89 1,986

Interest received 2,281 2,211

Dividends received 761 1,878

Operating expenses paid (30,174) (22,700)

Other (expenses)/income, net (3,911) (3,332)

Insurance deposits received, net 9,079 5,444

Purchase of trading investments (26,364) (46,990)

Sale of trading investments 44,003 31,340

Directors’ remunerations paid - (305)

Net cash used in operating activities 30 (777) (390)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Maturity/sale of investments 293,215 329,987

Purchase of investments (326,719) (348,512)

Term deposits with bank 21,202 29,845

Interest received 9,738 9,347

Dividends received - 10

Investment income 3,899 7,492

Collateralised cash deposits 6,858 (10,137)

Purchase of property and equipment (328) (574)

Purchase of intangible assets (37) (38)

Investment in associate (63) -

Net cash provided by investing activities 7,765 17,420

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings (3,000) 34,000

Interest on borrowings (866) (328)

Dividends paid (62) (9,245)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (3,928) 24,427

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,060 41,457

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents (167) 13

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 136,515 95,045

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 5 139,408 136,515
Term deposits with bank 41,052 62,254

Cash and bank balances, end of year 5 180,460 198,769

The accompanying notes 1 to 35 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

Arab Insurance Group (B.S.C.) (the “Company”, “parent 
company”) is an international insurance company 
registered as a Bahraini Shareholding Company having 
its registered office at Arig House, Manama, Kingdom of 
Bahrain.  The parent company and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) are involved in provision of general (non-life) and 
life reinsurance and related service activities.  

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board and are consistent with 
prevailing practice within the insurance industry.  

The Group’s financial statements are presented in U.S. 
Dollars, which is its functional currency as its share capital 
and a significant proportion of its business, assets and 
liabilities are denominated in that currency.  

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under 
the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation 
of land and building and certain investment assets.  

Comparative figures have been reclassified and restated, 
where necessary, to conform to the current year’s 
presentation.

The Group has adopted the following new and revised 
IFRS and interpretations which became effective as of 1 
January 2016:

• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 

 Amendments to IFRS 11 provide guidance on how 
to account for the acquisition of a joint operation that 
constitutes a business as defined in IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations. The adoption of this amendment has no 
material impact on the financial statements.

• IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 
Intangible Assets

 Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit entities from using 
a revenue based depreciation method for items of 
property, plant and equipment. Amendments to IAS 38 
introduce a rebuttable presumption that revenue is not 
an appropriate basis for amortisation of an intangible 
asset. This presumption can only be rebutted if the 
intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue 
or when it can be demonstrated that revenue and 
consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible 
asset are highly correlated. The adoption of this 
amendment has no material impact on the financial 
statements.

• IAS 27  Separate Financial Statements 

 Amendments have been made to IAS 27 Separate 
Financial Statements, which will allow entities to use 
the equity method in their separate financial statements 
to measure investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates.

 IAS 27 currently allows entities to measure their 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates either at cost or as a financial asset in 
their separate financial statements. The amendments 
introduce the equity method as a third option. The 
election can be made independently for each category 
of investment (subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates). 

 The adoption of this amendment has no material impact 
on the financial statements.

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 
28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

 Amendments to these standards clarify the accounting 
treatment for sales or contribution of assets between 
an investor and its associates or joint ventures. They 
confirm that the accounting treatment depends on 
whether the non-monetary assets sold or contributed, 
to an associate or joint venture, constitute a ‘business’ 
(as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations). Where 
the non-monetary assets constitute a business, the 
investor will recognise the full gain or loss on the sale 
or contribution of assets. If the assets do not meet the 
definition of a business, the gain or loss is recognised 
by the investor only to the extent of the other investor’s 
investments in the associate or joint venture. The 
adoption of this amendment has no material impact on 
the financial statements.

• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

 Amendments provide clarifications on a number of 
issues, including: 

 Materiality – an entity should not aggregate or 
disaggregate information in a manner that obscures 
useful information. Where items are material, sufficient 
information must be provided to explain the impact on 
the financial position or performance. 

 Disaggregation and subtotals – line items specified 
in IAS 1 may need to be disaggregated where this is 
relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial 
position or performance. 

 Notes – confirmation that the notes do not need to be 
presented in a particular order. 

 Other comprehensive income (OCI) arising from 
investments accounted for under the equity method 
– the share of OCI arising from equity-accounted 
investments is grouped based on whether the items will 
or will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 The adoption of this amendment has no material impact 
on the financial statements.

• Improvements to IFRSs (2014) 

 Improvements to IFRSs in the 2012-2014 cycles 
include a number of amendments to various IFRSs. 
The adoption of this amendment has no material 
impact on the financial statements.

 The following standards and interpretations have been 
issued but are applicable for periods subsequent to the 
year ended 31 December 2016:

• IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
 Standard issued January 2016 

 Amendments to IFRS 2 relate to classification and 
measurement of share based payment transactions. 
The standard is applicable from 1 January 2018 with 
early adoption permitted. The Group is not expecting a 
significant impact from the adoption of this standard. 

• IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
 Standard issued September 2016

 Amendments to the standard introduce two alternative 
options for entities issuing contracts within the scope of 
IFRS 4, notably a temporary exemption and an overlay 
approach. The temporary exemption enables eligible 
entities to defer the implementation date of IFRS 9 for 
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2021 at the 
latest. An entity may apply the temporary exemption 
from IFRS 9 if
(i) it has not previously applied any version of IFRS 9 

before and
(ii) its activities are predominantly connected with  

insurance on its annual reporting date that 
immediately precedes 1 April 2016. 

 The overlay approach allows an entity applying 
IFRS 9 to reclassify between profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income an amount that results in the 
profit or loss at the end of the reporting period for 
the designated financial assets being the same as 
if an entity had applied IAS 39 to these designated 
financial assets. The temporary exemption from IFRS 
9 is available from 1 January 2018 while the overlay 
approach applies when IFRS 9 is applied for the first 
time. The Group is assessing the impact of IFRS 4 on 
its consolidated financial statements. 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
 Standard issued July 2014

 IFRS 9 replaces the existing IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd.) includes revised guidance on the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments, including a new 
expected credit loss model for calculating impairment 
on financial assets, and the new general hedge 
accounting requirements. It also carries forward the 
guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial 
instruments from IAS 39. The standard is applicable 
from 1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. 
The Group is assessing the impact of IFRS 9 on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 Standard issued May 2014

 IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for 
determining whether, how much and when revenue is 
recognized. It replaces existing revenue recognition 
guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 
Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty 
Programmes. The standard is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2017, with early adoption permitted. The Group is not 
expecting a significant impact from the adoption of this 
standard.

• IFRS 16 Leases
 Standard issued in January 2016

 IFRS 16 introduces a single, accounting model for 
lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset 
representing its right to use the underlying asset and a 
lease liability representing its obligation to make lease 
payments. There are optional exemptions for short-
term leases and leases of low value items. Lessor 
accounting remains similar to the current standard 
i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or 
operating leases. The standard is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 
The Group is not expecting a significant impact from 
the adoption of this standard. 

• IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flow
 Standard issued in January 2016

 The amendments require disclosures that enable 
users of consolidated financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, 
including both changes arising from cash flow and 
non-cash changes. The amendments are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2017, with early adoption permitted. To satisfy the 
new disclosure requirements, the Group intends to 
present a reconciliation between the opening and 
closing balances of liabilities with changes arising from 
financing activities.

• Improvements to IFRSs (2016)

 Improvements to IFRSs in the 2014-2016 cycles 



47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd.)

include a number of amendments to various IFRSs. 
Most amendments will apply prospectively for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early 
application permitted. The Group is not expecting a 
significant impact from the adoption of this amendment.

 The Group did not early-adopt new or amended 
standards in 2016.

 The significant accounting policies of the Group are as 
follows:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts 
of the parent company and all of its subsidiaries made up 
to 31 December 2016 except for Arig Capital Limited which 
is consolidated one quarter in arrears.

Subsidiaries are defined as entities that are controlled by 
the Group, on the basis of
i) power over the entity;
ii) the exposure to variable returns from the entity; and 
iii) the ability to use its power to affect the amount of 

returns.

The purchase method is used to account for acquisitions. 

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements 
as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on 
the Group’s rights to the assets and obligations for the 
liabilities of the arrangements.  

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised 
surpluses and deficits on transactions between group 
companies have been eliminated on consolidation.  Where 
necessary, the accounts of subsidiaries have been restated 
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted 
by the Group.  

A listing of the principal subsidiaries is set out in note 32.  
In the parent company, these investments are accounted 
under IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank 
balances and short-term highly liquid assets (placements 
with financial institutions) with original maturities of 
three months or less when acquired that are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are 
used by the Group in the management of its short-term 
commitments. Bank balances that are restricted and not 
available for day to day operations of the Group are not 
included in cash and cash equivalents. 

Investments

Investment securities are classified as ‘at fair value 
through profit or loss’, which includes financial assets held 
for trading and those designated at fair value on initial 
recognition, ‘available for sale’, ‘held to maturity’ or ‘loans 
and receivables’. Management determines the appropriate 
classification of investments at the time of purchase.

Securities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss 
if they are acquired for the purpose of generating a profit 
from short-term fluctuations in price or if so designated 
by management. Derivative financial instruments that are 
not designated as accounting hedge are classified as at 
fair value through profit or loss. Investments with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the 
management has the intent and ability to hold to maturity 
are classified as held to maturity. Financial instruments 
with fixed or determinable payments and that are not 
quoted in an active market are categorised as loans and 
receivables. Securities intended to be held for an  indefinite 
period of time and those that are not classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss, held to maturity or loans and 
receivables, which may be sold in response to needs for 
liquidity or changes in interest rates, are classified as 
available for sale.  

All purchases and sales of investments are recognised at 
the settlement date. All investment assets are recognised 
initially at cost. After initial recognition, investments are 
valued using principles described below.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss and 
investments available for sale are carried at fair value.  
Held to maturity investments and loans and receivables are 
carried at amortised cost, less any adjustment necessary 
for impairment.  

Fair values are measured using market observable data as 
far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different 
levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in 
valuation (see note 31).

Provision for impairment of financial assets

A provision is made in respect of a financial asset that is 
impaired if its carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount.  

Provisions for assets carried at amortised cost are 
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount 
of the assets and the present value of expected future cash 
flows discounted at their original effective interest rate. 
By comparison, the recoverable amount of an instrument 
carried at cost is the present value of expected future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of interest for a 
similar financial asset.
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In the case of available for sale financial assets, the Group 
assesses at each statement of financial position date 
whether there is an objective evidence of impairment of 
such assets. If any such evidence exists, the impairment is 
recognised in income. Evidence of impairment considers     
among other factors significant or prolonged decline 
in market values and financial difficulties of the issuer. 
Impairment recognised is not reversed subsequently 
except in case of debt instruments.

Investment in associated companies

Investments in associated companies are accounted 
for using the equity method. Associated companies are 
defined as those companies over which the Group is able 
to exercise significant influence but not control or joint 
control over the financial and operating policy decisions.

Investment in joint ventures

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using 
the equity method. Joint ventures are defined as those 
companies over which the Group has joint control with 
another party and has rights to the net assets of the 
company. The Group does not have rights to the assets 
and obligation for the liabilities of the company. 

Insurance receivables

Insurance receivables are carried at anticipated realisable 
values after provision for impairment. A provision for 
impairment is established when there is evidence that the 
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according 
to the terms of the receivables. In case of receivables not 
specifically impaired, a collective evaluation of impairment 
is carried out based on historical loss experience. Bad 
debts are written off during the year in which they are 
identified. The identification of bad debts is based on an 
analysis of the financial position of the counter party. 

Insurance deposits

Insurance deposits comprise premium and claim deposits 
with cedants in accordance with policy terms and are 
carried at anticipated realisable values after provision for 
impairment. A provision for impairment is established when 
there is evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the terms of the deposits.  
In case of deposits not specifically impaired, a collective 
evaluation of impairment is carried out based on historical 
loss experience. Irrecoverable deposits are written off 
during the year in which they are identified. Irrecoverable 
deposits are identified on an analysis of the financial 
position of the counter party.  

Intangible assets

Expenditure on software, patents, present value of 
future profits on acquisition of portfolio and licenses are 
capitalised and amortised using the straight line basis over 
their expected useful lives, not exceeding a period of 5 
years.

Costs associated with developing computer software 
programmes are recognised as an expense when 
incurred.  However, costs that are clearly associated with 
an identifiable and unique product, which will be controlled 
by the Group and has a probable benefit exceeding the 
costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible 
assets. Costs include staff costs of the development team 
and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Expenditure, which enhances and extends the benefits 
of computer software programmes beyond their original 
specifications and lives is recognised as a capital 
improvement and added to the original cost of the 
software. The carrying amount of intangible assets is 
reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment where it is 
considered necessary.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation except for land and building which are carried 
at their revalued amount being fair value on date of valuation 
on a rolling basis by independent external valuers, less 
accumulated depreciation. On revaluation, any increase 
in the carrying amount of the asset is carried in the 
shareholders’ equity as Property Revaluation Reserve and 
any decrease is recognised as an expense, except to the  
extent that it reverses decreases or increases previously 
recognised through income or shareholders’ equity. The 
balance in the Property Revaluation Reserve is transferred 
directly to Retained Earnings on sale of property and 
realization of surplus. Further, the difference between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amounts and 
the depreciation based on original cost of the property is 
transferred directly from Property Revaluation Reserve to 
Retained Earnings.  

The cost of additions and major improvements are 
capitalised; maintenance and repairs are charged to 
expense as incurred. Gains or losses on disposal are 
reflected in other income. Depreciation is provided on 
straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the 
assets, which are as follows:

Building 40 years
Electrical and mechanical 20 years
Information systems, furniture,  
equipment and others 3-5 years
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Useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each 
reporting period and adjusted accordingly.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying 
amounts to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the assets 
recoverable amount is estimated.  

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into 
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the 
cash inflows of other assets or Cash Generating Units 
(CGU). 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater 
of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.  

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of 
an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets 
and liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale if it is highly 
probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale 
rather than through continuing use. 

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured 
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell.  Any impairment loss on a disposal group 
is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining 
assets and liabilities on a pro-rata basis, except that no 
loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred 
tax assets, employee benefit assets, investment property 
or biological assets, which continue to be measured in 
accordance with the Group’s other accounting policies. 
Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale 
or held-for-distribution and subsequent gains or losses on 
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised 
or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no 
longer equity accounted.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount 
of the obligation can be made. Employee entitlements 
are recognised when they accrue to employees, with 
a provision being carried for the estimated liability as a 

result of services rendered upto the statement of financial 
position date.

Post employment obligations

The Group operates a number of defined benefit plans for 
its employees.   

For defined benefit plans, the accounting cost except 
for actuarial gains or losses, is charged to the income 
statement so as to spread it over the expected service 
lives of employees. The accounting costs under these 
plans are measured as the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows using interest rates of government 
securities, which have terms to maturity approximating the 
terms of the related liability. Actuarial gains or losses are 
carried in the comprehensive income statement.

Treasury stock

Treasury stock representing shares purchased by the 
parent company or its consolidated subsidiaries are carried 
at cost with the exception of holdings as on the date of 
capital reduction, 4 July 2002, which are carried at nominal 
value.  All treasury stock is presented as a deduction from 
shareholders’ equity and gains and losses from sale of 
these shares are presented as a change in shareholders’ 
equity.  

Recognition of underwriting result

Insurance business is accounted for in a manner consistent 
with prevailing practice within the insurance industry, 
more specifically, on an annual accounting basis. Specific 
accounting policies relating to individual items of insurance 
revenues and costs and technical provisions are explained 
below for each relevant item.

Premiums

Gross premiums written comprise the total premiums in 
relation to contracts incepting during the financial year, 
together with adjustments arising in the financial year 
to premiums receivable in respect of business written in 
previous financial years. It includes an estimate of pipeline 
premiums, being those premiums written but not reported 
to the Group at the statement of financial position date.  
Pipeline premiums are reported as accrued insurance 
premiums.

Premiums, net of reinsurance, are taken to income over 
the terms of the related contracts or policies. Unearned 
premiums are those proportions of the premiums 
accounted for, which relate to periods of risk that extend 
beyond the end of the financial year; they are calculated 
based on a time apportionment basis. A provision for 
unexpired risks is made for estimated amounts required 
over and above provisions for unearned premiums to meet 
future claims and related expenses on business in force at 
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the statement of financial position date.  Such provision, 
where necessary, is made on the basis of an assessment 
of segments in which policies with similar risk profile are 
grouped together.

Claims and related expenses

Claims and related expenses are accounted for based on 
reports received and subsequent review on an individual 
case basis. Provision is made to cover the estimated 
ultimate cost of settling claims arising out of events, which 
have occurred by the end of the financial year, including 
unreported losses, and claims handling expenses.  
Provision for unreported claims is established based on 
actuarial analysis and application of underwriting judgment 
having regard to the range of uncertainty as to the eventual 
outcome for each category of business.

Policy acquisition costs

Commissions, taxes, brokerages and other variable 
underwriting costs directly associated with acquiring 
business are amortised over the period in which the 
related premiums are earned.  Policy acquisition costs that 
relate to periods of risk that extend beyond the end of the 
financial year are reported as deferred policy acquisition 
costs.

Reinsurance arrangements

As part of managing its insurance risks, the Group enters 
into contracts with other reinsurers for compensation of 
losses on insurance contracts issued by the Group. 

Compensations receivable from reinsurers are estimated 
in a manner consistent with the corresponding claim 
liability. The benefits and obligations arising under 
reinsurance contracts are recognised in income and the 
related assets and liabilities are recognised as accounts 
receivable, reinsurers’ share of technical reserves and 
accounts payable. 

Liability adequacy test

At each statement of financial position date, liability 
adequacy tests are performed to ensure adequacy of the 
contractual liabilities net of related deferred acquisition 
costs. In performing these tests, current best estimates 
of future contractual undiscounted cash flows and claims 
handling and administrative expenses are considered. The 
tests are performed on a portfolio basis where policies with 
similar risk profile are grouped together as a portfolio. 

Investment income

Investment income comprises interest and dividend 
receivable for the financial year. Gains and losses arising 

from changes in the fair value of investments at fair value 
through profit or loss are included in the income statement 
in the period in which they arise. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of available for 
sale investments are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and carried in investment revaluation income as 
part of equity. When available for sale investments are 
disposed or are impaired, the related fair value adjustments 
are included in the income statement.     

Investment income arising from insurance business 
investment assets are allocated to the underwriting results 
of insurance businesses based on the proportion of their 
respective insurance funds to shareholders’ funds during 
the financial year. 

Foreign currency translation

Transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. 
Dollars are recorded at the rates ruling at the date of the 
transaction. All monetary and non-monetary assets carried 
at fair value denominated in currencies other than U.S. 
Dollars are translated at year-end exchange rates. 

Unrealised gains or losses on translation are taken to 
income except in respect of non-monetary available for 
sale investments, which are taken to equity until they are 
disposed.

Unrealised gains and losses on translation of financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in equity. Other 
foreign currency gains and losses are taken to income.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

In the ordinary course of its business, the Group uses 
forward foreign exchange contracts as fair value hedges 
to protect its exposures in respect of foreign currency 
denominated investments and insurance liabilities and 
these contracts are carried at fair value.

Where a fair value hedge meets the conditions prescribed 
by International Financial Reporting Standards for 
qualifying as an effective hedge, gains or losses from 
remeasuring forward foreign exchange contracts and gains 
or losses on hedged assets attributable to the hedged risk 
are recognised in income.  

Where the hedge is not effective, gains or losses from 
remeasuring forward foreign exchange contracts are 
recognised in income. Gains or losses on hedged assets 
are recognised in income except in respect of non-
monetary available for sale investments, which are taken 
to equity until they are disposed.

The gain or losses from remeasuring insurance liabilities 
and related foreign exchange contracts are recognised in 
income.
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In the process of applying its accounting policies, the Group 
makes estimates and judgements that have an impact 
on the amounts recognised and reported in the financial 
statements. These estimates and judgements are based on 
historical experience, observable market data, published 
information and other information including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The estimates and judgements that 
have a significant impact on the recognised amounts in the 
financial statements and the processes used to determine 
these estimates and judgements are described below:

Claims and related expenses
 
The estimate of ultimate losses arising from existing 
insurance contracts include unreported claims. Provisions 
for unreported claims are estimated based on actuarial 
analysis and application of underwriting judgment having 
regard to the range of uncertainty as to the eventual 
outcome for each category of business. The ultimate 
insurance liability also includes the costs to administer the 
claims. 

Ultimate premiums
 
The estimate of ultimate premiums is based on premium 
income estimates provided by cedants which is then 
adjusted to reflect underwriters’ judgement taking into 
account market conditions and historical data. This 
estimate is subject to review by underwriters and actuaries.

Other significant estimates include fair value measurement 
and impairment of financial assets as disclosed in note 
2. 

4. MANAGEMENT OF INSURANCE RISKS

Risks under insurance contracts arise from uncertainty 
regarding the occurrence of the insured event and the 
amount of the resulting claim.  In addition to underwriting 
risks, the Group is also exposed to other related risks such 
as credit, currency and liquidity risks.

The following is a summary of policies adopted to mitigate 
the key insurance risks facing the Group:

Underwriting risks

The Group manages its underwriting risks principally 
through policies and guidelines for accepting risks and 
reinsurance arrangements.

Risks are accepted based on an evaluation of pricing 
and prior underwriting experience in accordance with 
underwriting guidelines that have been laid out for 
each line of business. Underwriting guidelines are 

constantly reviewed and updated to take account of 
market developments, performance and opportunities. 
Accumulation limits are set to control exposures to natural 
hazards and catastrophes. Various underwriting and 
approval limits are specified for accepting risks.

Acceptance of risks that do not meet specified minimum 
criteria are subject to agreement of an Underwriting 
Review Committee comprising representatives from the 
Marketing, Underwriting and Actuarial functions. 

The reinsurance strategy of the Group is designed to 
protect exposures to individual and event risks based on 
current risk exposures through cost effective reinsurance 
arrangements. 

Reserving risks are addressed by ensuring prudent and 
appropriate reserving for business written by the Group, thus 
ensuring that sufficient funds are available to cover future 
claims. Reserving practices involve the use of actuarial 
analysis and application of underwriting judgement. These 
are supplemented by periodical independent actuarial 
reviews for determining the adequacy of reserves.

Credit risks

Credit risk under insurance contracts is the risk that a 
counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when 
due.

Credit risk is controlled through terms of trade for 
receipt of premium and in certain cases enforcement of 
premium warranty conditions. Most of the counterparties 
are insurance companies that are generally not rated. 
However, there are no significant exposures from any one 
counterparty. 

Reinsurance arrangements are effected with reinsurers 
whose creditworthiness is assessed on the basis of 
satisfying minimum rating and financial strength criteria. 
Exposure to any single reinsurer generally does not 
exceed a maximum of 25% of total exposure and risks 
are generally placed with counterparties with minimum 
investment grade rating except for proportional treaty 
arrangements placed on reciprocal basis.
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Credit risks relating to reinsurance arrangements are analysed as follows:
(US$ ’000)

2016 Receivables Share of claims 
outstanding Total 

Balance relating to reinsurers:
-  With investment grade rating 1,434 29,235 30,669
-  Other 10,324 9,455 19,779

11,758 38,690 50,448

2015

Balance relating to reinsurers:
-  With investment grade rating 702 25,839 26,541
-  Other 11,079 11,919 22,998

11,781 37,758 49,539

Currency risks

As the Company writes business in various currencies, it is exposed to currency risk.  Foreign exchange currency risks are 
hedged where exposures are significant and facility to hedge is available.

(US$ ’000)

2016 Euro
Pound 

Sterling
Indian 
Rupee

Canadian 
Dollar Other

Reinsurance Assets (Liabilities), net (345) 1,296 (9,823) (43) (48,577)
Hedged - (1,244) - - -

2015
Reinsurance Assets (Liabilities), net (1,285) 291 (12,250) (56) (59,570)
Hedged 1,079 1,814 - - -

Liquidity risks 

Liquidity risk is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations when due. Limits have been specified in the 
investment policy and guidelines that requires a significant portion of investment funds representing insurance liabilities to 
be held in cash or readily marketable debt securities.   

Sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity of the Group’s income to market risks is as follows:
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
5% increase in loss ratio (9,025) (10,996)

5% decrease in loss ratio 9,025 10,996

10% increase in US Dollar exchange rate 10,615 10,413

10% decrease in US Dollar exchange rate (12,974) (12,727)
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(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
Cash and bank balances 102,908 92,503
Deposits  with maturity within 3 months 36,500 44,012
Cash and cash equivalents 139,408 136,515
Deposits with maturity over 3 months 41,052 62,254

180,460 198,769

Details of significant terms and conditions, exposures to credit, interest rate and currency risks are as follows:

Credit risk

Bank balances and deposits with short term maturities are held with leading financial institutions. The Group limits its 
concentration of time deposits with any one financial institution to a maximum of 10% of shareholders’ equity.  

Interest rate risk

2016 2015
Interest receivable basis:
-  Bank balances Daily/Monthly Daily/Monthly
-  Deposits with short term maturities On maturity On maturity

Effective rates 0.01% to 2.25 % 0.01% to 2.20 %

As the deposits are short term maturities, there is no sensitivity to interest rate fluctuation.

Currency risk
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
U.S. Dollar 168,451 172,751
Bahraini Dinar 7,199 17,307
UAE Dirham 469 336
Singapore Dollars 3,015 3,852
Qatari Riyals 9 11
Other 1,317 4,512

180,460 198,769
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(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
At fair value through profit or loss
Held for trading
Common stock of listed companies 43,937 44,825

43,937 44,825
Designated at fair value on initial recognition
Debt Securities
-  Other investment grade  50,923 49,490
-  Other 43,200 40,696

94,123 90,186
Held to maturity
Debt securities
-  Supra-nationals and OECD country governments 1,000 1,000
-  Other investment grade 4,857 4,000

-  Other 3,913 9,902
9,770 14,902

Available for sale
Debt securities
-  Supra-nationals and OECD country governments 57,284 77,147
-  Other investment grade 218,255 199,147
-  Other 96,537 83,177
Common stock of listed companies 10,312 12,214
Common stock of unlisted companies 6,381 6,422
Other equity type investment 17,978 17,202

406,747 395,309
Investment in associates 83 237

554,660 545,459
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Movements in the Group’s impairment recognised on available for sale investments are as follows:

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

At 1 January 20,994 19,805
Impairment recognised during the year
-  Unlisted companies 33 618
-  Others 675 1,771
Reversal on sale of investments (187) (1,200)
At 31 December 21,515 20,994

Debt securities amounting to US$ 169.9 million (2015: US$ 151.8 million) have been pledged as security for reinsurance 
trust agreements, letters of credit, guarantees and borrowings.

Details of significant exposures to credit, interest rate and currency risks on investments are as follows:

Credit risk

The Group limits its investment concentration in debt securities in any one investee and in any one industry group to 10% 
and 20% respectively, of the total debt securities portfolio.

The Group also limits its investment concentration in common stock of listed companies of any one issue and any one 
issuer to 5% and 10% respectively, of its total common stock portfolio.

Debt securities - interest rate risk

2016 Interest receivable basis Effective rates Coupon rates

Supra-nationals and OECD country 
government securities

Monthly/Semi-annual/
Annual 0.750% - 1.625% 0.750%-1.625%

Other investment grade debt 
securities

Monthly/Semi-annual/
Annual 0.125% - 7.750% 0.125% - 7.750%

Other debt securities Monthly/Semi-annual/
Annual 2.383% - 5.500% 2.383% - 5.500%

2015
Supra-nationals and OECD 
country government securities

Monthly/Semi-annual/
Annual 0.125% - 1.625% 0.125% - 1.625%

Other investment grade debt 
securities

Monthly/Semi-annual/
Annual 0.709% - 8.625% 0.709% - 8.625%

Other debt securities Monthly/Semi-annual/
Annual 2.383% - 5.500%  2.383% - 5.500%
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Debt securities – currency risk

(US$ ’000)

2016
U.S. 

Dollar Euro Bahraini 
Dinar Other Total

Supra-nationals and OECD country government securities 58,284 - - - 58,284
Other investment grade debt securities 273,963 34 - 38 274,035
Other debt securities 137,222 - 6,428 - 143,650

469,469 34 6,428 38 475,969

2015
Supra-nationals and OECD country government securities 78,147 - - - 78,147
Other investment grade debt securities 246,036 3,610 - 2,991 252,637
Other debt securities 127,512 - 6,263 - 133,775

451,695 3,610 6,263 2,991 464,559

Debt securities - remaining term to maturity

The principal amount and book values of debt securities are shown in the table below by contractual maturity.  
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
Principal
amount

Book  
value

Principal
amount

Book  
value

Supra-nationals and OECD country government securities:
-  Due in one year or less 18,500 18,511 6,000 6,025
-  One to five years 40,000 39,773 65,500 65,198

-  More than five years - - 7,000 6,924
58,500 58,284 78,500 78,147

Debt securities of other investment grade issuers:
-  Due in one year or less 25,500 24,861 18,017 17,897 
-  One to five years 188,590 187,319 178,967 177,131
-  More than five years 61,603 61,855 58,768 57,609

275,693 274,035 255,752 252,637
Other debt securities:
-  Due in one year or less 2,444 1,614 47 46
-  One to five years 97,518 97,031 71,307 70,065
-  More than five years 46,544 45,005 67,929 63,664

146,506 143,650 139,283 133,775
480,699 475,969 473,535 464,559
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6.   INVESTMENTS (Contd.)

Common stock

Common stocks have no fixed maturity dates and are generally not exposed to interest rate risk. Dividends are generally 
declared on an annual basis.

The book value of common stock classified by currencies in which they are denominated are as follows:
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
U.S. Dollar 36,086 49,883
Euro 7,722 3,467
Bahraini Dinar 433 433
Saudi Riyal 5,590 2,151
Pound Sterling 2,286 1,814
Japanese Yen 877 1,364
Other 7,636 4,349

60,630 63,461

Commitments 

The Group has commitments in respect of uncalled capital in available for sale investments amounting to US$ 7.3 million 
(2015: US$ 5.2 million).   

7.    SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The sensitivity of the Group’s profit or loss and total equity to market risks on its cash and cash equivalents and investments 
is as follows:

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Income Equity Income Equity
Interest rate
+ 100 basis points shift in yield curves- debt instruments (1,543) (10,159) (1,562) (9,958)
–  100 basis points shift in yield curves- debt instruments 1,491 9,820 1,616 10,302
Currency risk
10% increase in US Dollar exchange rate (2,030) (19) (3,388) (48)
10% decrease in US Dollar exchange rate 2,481 23 4,141 54
Equity price
10% increase in equity prices 4,394 1,031 4,483 1,221
10% decrease in equity prices (4,394) (1,031) (4,483) (1,221)
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8.    ACCRUED INCOME
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
Accrued insurance premiums 
Expected to be received :
-  Within 12 months 76,483 59,068
-  After 12 months 22,869 9,907

99,352 68,975
Accrued interest 
-  Expected to be received within 12 months 2,258 2,347

101,610 71,322

9.    INSURANCE RECEIVABLES

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Balances due :
-  Within 12 months 108,305 115,763
-  After 12 months 97 259

108,402 116,022

Movements in the Group’s provision for impaired receivables are as follows:
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
At 1 January 14,752 14,651
(Write back)/provision for impairment (459) 208
Impaired receivables written-off (63) (107)
31 December 14,230 14,752

The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to counter party in financial difficulty. The ageing of these receivables 
is as follows:

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Over two years 4,936 5,103
4,936 5,103

The ageing analysis of receivables that are past due and not considered impaired is as follows:
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015

Upto 6 months 4,536 3,304
6 to 12 months 12,731 14,668

17,267 17,972



59

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10.    INSURANCE DEPOSITS
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
Balances due:
-  Within 12 months 22,000 28,521
-  After 12 months 6,086 8,496

28,086 37,017

Movements in the Group’s provision for impaired deposits are as follows:

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

At 1 January 3,494 3,666
Provision for/(write back of) impairment 674 (172)
Impaired deposits written off (1,223) -
31 December 2,945 3,494

The individually impaired deposits mainly relate to counter parties in financial difficulty.  The ageing of these deposits is as 
follows:

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Under ten years 4,899 2,564
Over ten years 6,284 8,855

11,183 11,419

The ageing analysis of deposits that are past due and not considered impaired is as follows:

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Up to 1 year 6,233 8,970
1 to 3 years 16,684 22,589

22,917 31,559
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11.    REINSURERS’ SHARE OF TECHNICAL PROVISIONS
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
General insurance business
-  Claims outstanding 38,669 37,738
-  Unreported claims 18,172 14,674
-  Deferred retrocession premium reserve 26,858 13,304

83,699 65,716
Life insurance business
-  Claims outstanding 21 20
-  Unreported claims 98 114

119 134
83,818 65,850

12.    OTHER ASSETS
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
Intangible assets :
-  Computer software 9,593 9,530

9,593 9,530
Less : Accumulated amortisation (9,245) (9,019)
Net intangible assets 348 511
Other assets due within 12 months:
-  Collateralised cash deposits 12,246 19,104
-  Prepayments and other receivables 5,397 2,372

17,643 21,476
17,991 21,987

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Movement in intangible assets :
Net book value at 1 January 511 781
-  Additions 70 39
-  Amortisation charge (232) (309)
-  Disposal (1) -
Net book value at 31 December 348 511

Collateralised cash deposits have been pledged as security for reinsurance letters of credit and guarantees.



61

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13.    PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
Land 2,469 2,469
Building 19,182 19,182
Work in progress  - 19
Information systems, furniture, equipment and other 10,592 10,679

32,243 32,349
Less: Accumulated depreciation (10,655) (10,113)

21,588 22,236
Movements in property and equipment
Net book value at 1 January 22,236 27,462
-  Revaluation of property - (4,850)
-  Additions 365 532
-  Disposals (37) (19)
-  Depreciation charge (976) (889)

Net book value at 31 December 21,588 22,236

Land and Building comprises the head office property owned and occupied by the Company since 1984 and also includes 
office premises of the subsidiary Takaful Re Limited in Dubai, U.A.E.

14.    TECHNICAL PROVISIONS

Technical provisions comprise:
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
General insurance business
Claims outstanding 279,957 298,985
Unreported losses 177,783 192,072
Unearned premiums 153,266 109,828

611,006 600,885
Life insurance business
Claims outstanding 14,638 17,976
Unreported losses 40,378 52,996
Unearned premiums 7,659 7,686

62,675 78,658
673,681 679,543

 

The mean term of reserves is 2.9 years and 2.7 years for non-life and life business respectively. 
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15.    CLAIMS DEVELOPMENT 

The table below shows the incurred gross and net claims including unreported losses computed with reference to earned 
premiums, compared with previous estimates for the last 5 years:

(US$ ’000)
Underwriting year

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Total

Gross

Estimate of incurred claims costs:

-  At end of underwriting year 128,402 113,735 112,367 106,448 101,570 74,463

-  One year later 205,558 178,609 190,431 182,358 175,247 -

-  Two years later 210,058 185,776 192,492 186,928 - -

-  Three years later 218,371 179,510 190,167 - - -

-  Four years later 218,009 180,033 - - - -

-  Five years later 214,904 - - - - -

Current estimate of incurred claims 214,904 180,033 190,167 186,928 175,247 74,463 1,021,742

Cumulative payments to date (187,102) (144,818) (142,308) (120,513) (73,565) (4,599) (672,905)

Liability recognised 27,802 35,215 47,859 66,415 101,682 69,864 348,837

Liability in respect of prior years 163,919

Total liability included in the 
statement of financial position 512,756

Net

Estimate of incurred claims costs:

-  At end of underwriting year 112,047 108,594 110,213 102,592 98,169 66,195

-  One year later 175,123 166,667 182,910 174,824 165,317 -

-  Two years later 181,617 175,275 182,685 178,752 - -

-  Three years later 186,925 169,531 179,862 - - -

-  Four years later 186,389 170,156 - - - -

-  Five years later 183,704 - - - - -

Current estimate of incurred claims 183,704 170,156 179,862 178,752 165,317 66,195 943,986

Cumulative payments to date (156,045) (135,417) (132,508) (119,514) (38,117) (6,126) (587,727)

Liability recognised 27,659 34,739 47,354 59,238 127,200 60,069 356,259

Liability in respect of prior years 99,537

Total liability included in the 
statement of financial position 455,796
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16.    MOVEMENTS IN INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND ASSETS 

(US$ ’000)
Gross  Reinsurance Net

2016
Claims
Claims outstanding 316,961 37,758 279,203
Unreported losses 245,068 14,788 230,280
Total at beginning of year 562,029 52,546 509,483
Change in provision during the year 125,448 3,478 121,970
Claims settled during the year (174,721) 936 (175,657)
Balance at end of year 512,756 56,960 455,796
Unearned premium
At beginning of year 117,514 13,304 104,210
Change in provision during the year 43,411 13,554 29,857
Balance at end of year 160,925 26,858 134,067
Accrued insurance premium 
At beginning of year 75,916 6,941 68,975
Movement during the year 36,938 6,561 30,377
Balance at end of year 112,854 13,502 99,352
Deferred policy acquisitions costs
At beginning of year 21,014 614 20,400
Movement during the year (1,944) 656 (2,600)
Balance at end of year 19,070 1,270 17,800

2015
Claims
Claims outstanding 348,262 46,860 301,402
Unreported losses 214,947 12,222 202,725
Total at beginning of year 563,209 59,082 504,127
Change in provision during the year 183,273 2,707 180,566
Claims settled during the year (184,453) (9,243) (175,210)
Balance at end of year 562,029 52,546 509,483
Unearned premium
At beginning of year 144,422 12,966 131,456
Change in provision during the year (26,908) 338 (27,246)
Balance at end of year 117,514 13,304 104,210
Accrued insurance premium 
At beginning of year 94,223 8,498 85,725
Movement during the year (18,307) (1,557) (16,750)
Balance at end of year 75,916 6,941 68,975
Deferred policy acquisitions costs
At beginning of year 24,659 207 24,452
Movement during the year (3,645) 407 (4,052)
Balance at end of year 21,014 614 20,400
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17.     INSURANCE PAYABLES 

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Due within 12 months 61,571 44,606
61,571 44,606

18.    BORROWINGS

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Balances Due:
- Within 12 months 41,000 44,000

41,000 44,000
 
Borrowings amounting to US$ 41 million (2015: US$ 44 million) are secured by debt securities amounting to US$ 51.6 
million (2015: US$ 56.1 million).  The effective interest rate on the borrowings was 2.27% (2015:1.7%)

19.    OTHER LIABILITIES

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Post-employment benefits (note 28) 12,398 14,236
Reinsurance premiums accrued 5,906 8,619
Accrued expense 5,984 7,978
Dividends payable 2,517 2,579
Employee long-term incentives 2,977 4,902
Other 15,567 13,619

45,349 51,933
Balances due: 
-  Within 12 months 29,974 32,795
-  After 12 months 15,375 19,138

45,349 51,933

20.    SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Share capital
 

a)    Composition
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
Authorised
500 million ordinary shares of US$ 1 each 500,000 500,000
Issued, Subscribed and Fully Paid-up
220 million (2015: 220 million) ordinary shares of US$ 1 each 220,000 220,000
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20.    SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Contd.)

b)     Major shareholders

Shareholders who have an interest of 5% or more of the outstanding and issued shares are as shown below:

Name Nationality No. of shares (in 
millions)

% of total 
outstanding shares

% of total issued 
shares

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Central Bank of Libya Libya 31.8 31.8 16.1 16.1 14.4 14.4
Emirates Investment Authority UAE 30.5 30.5 15.4 15.4 13.9 13.9
General Pension and Social Security Authority UAE 27.5 27.5 13.9 13.9 12.5 12.5
Kuwait Investment Authority Kuwait 20.0 20.0 10.1 10.1 9.1 9.1
Emirates Development Bank UAE 11.0 11.0 5.6 5.6 5.0 5.0

c)     Shareholding pattern

The shareholding pattern in the outstanding shares of the Company is as follows:

Shares No. of shares  
(in millions) No. of shareholders % of total outstanding 

shares

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Less than 1% 49.0 40.1 4,540 4,600 24.8 20.3
1% to 5% 28.2 37.1 6 4 14.3 18.7
5% to 10% 11.0 11.0 1 1 5.6 5.6
10% and above 109.8 109.8 4 4 55.4 55.4

Treasury stock

The Company held 21,967,818 of its own shares at 31 December 2016 (2015: 21,967,818 shares) and is carried at cost 
US$ 14,793,000 (2015: US$ 14,793,000).   

Legal reserve

In accordance with applicable legal provisions and Articles of Association, the Group is required to set aside 10% of net 
profits each year to build a Legal Reserve up to a maximum of 100% of the paid up value of its share capital.

Investment revaluation reserve
 
Investment revaluation reserve comprises gains or losses arising from remeasurement of available for sale investment 
assets. These gains or losses are carried in the reserve until the assets are disposed of, at which time the gains or losses 
are included in income. 

Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve represents the difference between the cost of buildings less accumulated depreciation and 
their fair values.  Further, the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amounts and the depreciation 
based on original cost of the property is transferred directly from Property revaluation reserve to Retained earnings.
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20.    SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Contd.)

Capital management:

The Group’s total capital comprises paid-up capital, legal reserve and retained earning less treasury shares. The Group’s 
policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain client, investor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. The parent company is regulated by Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB), which sets and monitors 
capital requirement for the parent company. CBB requires the parent company to compute the solvency margin requirement 
in accordance with provisions of the CBB Rule Book. The Company is in compliance with the required margin of solvency.

Additionally, the Company manages its capital adequacy on an evaluation of its capital requirement through risk based 
capital models.

21.    NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS  

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

At 1 January 34,732 37,862
Share of comprehensive income 1,128 (3,130)
Minority interest in subsidiary 320 -
At 31 December 36,180 34,732
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22.    SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Analysis of revenue by primary business segment

The Group’s reinsurance business consists of two main business segments, Non-life and Life. Non-life business primarily 
consists of Property, Engineering, Marine, Accident, Whole Account and other classes. Life business mainly involves short 
term group life policies and long term life policies. Life portfolio does not contain investment linked policies. 

(US$ ’000)

Non-life Life
Total

2016 Property Engineering Marine Accident Whole 
account Others Short  

term
Long  
term

REVENUES 

Gross premiums written 40,754 20,947 9,768 9,041 113,593 30,937 19,954 437 245,431

Outward reinsurance premiums (6,607) (3,698) (1,223) (449) (26,078) 1,296 (265) - (37,024)

Change in unearned premiums – gross 4,215 2,775 1,649 1,600 (32,542) (8,493) 322 (68) (30,542)

Change in unearned premiums – reinsurance 1,243 1,228 483 110 1,242 (1,437) (231) - 2,638

Net earned premiums 39,605 21,252 10,677 10,302 56,215 22,303 19,780 369 180,503

Investment income attributable to insurance funds 3,457 1,847 1,085 992 220 1,466 1,035 1,021 11,123

43,062 23,099 11,762 11,294 56,435 23,769 20,815 1,390 191,626

COSTS AND ExPENSES 

Gross claims paid (40,163) (18,159) (8,495) (8,472) (36,312) (24,704) (21,541) (16,875) (174,721)

Claims recovered from reinsurers 498 536 399 84 (3,793) 856 485 - (935)

Change in provision for outstanding claims – gross 6,878 4,841 4,333 49 22,584 6,479 (332) 3,555 48,387

Change in provision for outstanding claims – 
reinsurance 1,298 (338) (1,066) (245) (10) (1,364) - - (1,725)

Change in provision for unreported losses – gross 13,704 (448) 2,573 196 (21,623) 3,277 1,463 11,072 10,214

Change in provision for unreported losses – 
reinsurance (356) 233 471 (14) (279) (755) 74 (6) (632)

Claims and related expenses (18,141) (13,335) (1,785) (8,402) (39,433) (16,211) (19,851) (2,254) (119,412)

Policy acquisition costs (10,784) (6,713) (3,475) (2,048) (19,881) (1,822) (707) 295 (45,135)

Policy acquisition costs recovered from reinsurers 1,306 876 456 194 - (666) - - 2,166

Change in deferred policy acquisition costs - gross (1,838) (385) (469) (923) (365) 1,332 (105) 6 (2,747)

Change in deferred policy acquisition costs – 
reinsurance (326) (483) (186) (55) - 396 - - (654)

Policy acquisition costs (11,642) (6,705) (3,674) (2,832) (20,246) (760) (812) 301 (46,370)

Operating expenses (6,371) (2,238) (1,539) (1,640) (445) (2,546) (2,326) (403) (17,508)

Underwriting result 6,908 821 4,764 (1,580) (3,689) 4,252 (2,174) (966) 8,336
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22.   SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd.)

Analysis of revenue by primary business segment:

(US$ ’000)

Non-life Life
Total

2015 Property Engineering Marine Accident Whole 
account Others Short 

term
Long 
term

REVENUES 

Gross premiums written 52,557 27,384 14,876 14,765 50,186 32,459 27,676 539 220,442

Outward reinsurance premiums (4,995) (3,039) (297) (143) (6,252) (2,269) (554) (3) (17,552)

Change in unearned premiums – gross 2,412 2,530 1,202 1,727 18,953 (3,022) (1,629) 36 22,209

Change in unearned premiums – reinsurance 57 (68) 30 7 (6,885) 1,459 225 - (5,175)

Net earned premiums 50,031 26,807 15,811 16,356 56,002 28,627 25,718 572 219,924

Investment income attributable to insurance funds 2,531 1,255 854 375 185 1,562 726 1,054 8,542

52,562 28,062 16,665 16,731 56,187 30,189 26,444 1,626 228,466

COSTS AND ExPENSES 

Gross claims paid (55,936) (18,078) (10,922) (12,249) (38,860) (27,786) (17,625) (2,997) (184,453)

Claims recovered from reinsurers 1,772 351 (2,788) 92 9,652 143 21 - 9,243

Change in provision for outstanding claims – gross 28,562 5,306 6,483 2,294 (6,188) 8,166 (194) (777) 43,652

Change in provision for outstanding claims – 
reinsurance (2,341) (367) (1,537) (76) 2 (1,843) (45) (1) (6,208)

Change in provision for unreported losses – gross (8,496) (3,412) 620 483 (563) (3,104) (724) 2,495 (12,701)

Change in provision for unreported losses – 
reinsurance 273 282 64 (31) (279) 1,973 (73) (1) 2,208

Claims and related expenses (36,166) (15,918) (8,080) (9,487) (36,236) (22,451) (18,640) (1,281) (148,259)

Policy acquisition costs (15,334) (8,514) (5,682) (4,323) (20,292) (1,244) (1,588) (30) (57,007)

Policy acquisition costs recovered from reinsurers 393 289 117 33 - 638 - - 1,470

Change in deferred policy acquisition costs - gross (636) (725) (81) (830) (220) (51) 70 (5) (2,478)

Change in deferred policy acquisition costs – 
reinsurance (16) 33 (21) (2) - (401) - - (407)

Policy acquisition costs (15,593) (8,917) (5,667) (5,122) (20,512) (1,058) (1,518) (35) (58,422)

Operating expenses (7,342) (2,751) (1,919) (1,856) (499) (3,574) (2,603) (468) (21,012)

Underwriting result (6,539) 476 999 266 (1,060) 3,106 3,683 (158) 773
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Analysis of premiums and non-current asset based on geographical location of the risk insured and location of 
the asset respectively

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Premium Non-current 
assets Premium Non-current 

assets
from: 
-  Middle East 85,742 33,471 107,595 20,212
-  Africa 22,067 3,575 21,885 4,111
-  Asia 26,713 4,327 45,034 8,459
-  Others 110,909 9,615 45,928 8,627

245,431 50,988 220,442 41,409

 There is no significant cedant group as the portfolio is diversified.

Analysis of segment assets and liabilities

(US$ ’000)

Non-Life Life

Corporate Total2016 Property Engineering Marine Accident Whole Others Short 
term

Long
 term

Reinsurance assets 33,975 21,005 19,231 503 193,080 72,796 8,767 578 - 349,935

Cash 18,731 13,733 6,167 5,598 11,590 9,145 5,956 4,415  105,125 180,460

Investments 71,898 53,080 23,097 22,684 45,716 37,667 23,404 21,185 255,929 554,660

Others - - - - - - - - 29,360 29,360

124,604 87,818 48,495 28,785 250,386 119,608 38,127 26,178 390,414 1,114,415

Reinsurance liabilities 134,393 94,621 52,438 31,030 237,949 127,322 40,720 26,175 - 744,648

Others - - - - - - - - 76,953 76,953

134,393 94,621 52,438 31,030 237,949 127,322 40,720 26,175 76,953 821,601

2015

Reinsurance assets 46,355 32,083 22,948 11,590 138,563 56,487 12,895 258 - 321,179

Cash 24,161 15,926 7,386 7,349 13,057 11,727 6,077 8,776 104,310 198,769

Investments 78,538 48,212 24,113 19,637 43,979 40,093 20,317 32,316 238,254 545,459

Others - - - - - - - - 33,655 33,655

149,054 96,221 54,447 38,576 195,599 108,307 39,289 41,350 376,219 1,099,062

Reinsurance liabilities 153,567 102,342 56,777 43,799 178,071 117,743 40,161 41,039 - 733,499

Others - - - - - - - - 86,583 86,583

153,567 102,342 56,777 43,799 178,071 117,743 40,161 41,039 86,583 820,082

 



70

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARAB INSURANCE GROUP (B.S.C.)

23.    INVESTMENT INCOME

(US$ ’000)

2016 Insurance 
funds

 Shareholders’ 
funds Total

Interest income  

-   Investments designated at fair value  through profit or loss 800 437 1,237

-  Others 5,866 4,827 10,693

Dividends 472 289 761

Realised gains/(loss)

- Trading investments 1,512 1,644 3,156
- Investment designated at fair value through profit or loss (183) (100) (283)
-  Available for sale 1,672 1,701 3,373
Gains (loss) on remeasurement of investments at fair value through 
profit or loss
-   Trading investments 1,148 (45) 1,103
-  Investments designated at fair value through profit or loss 442 242 684
Impairment loss-available for sale (19) (502) (521)
Other (587) (327) (914)

11,123 8,166 19,289

2015

Interest income  

-   Investments designated at fair value  through profit or loss 500 268 768

-  Others 6,150 4,689 10,839

Dividends 1,079 809 1,888

Realised gains 

- Trading investments 2,856 488 3,344

- Investment designated at fair value through profit or loss 347 142 489

-  Available for sale 2,283 1,672 3,955

Loss on remeasurement of investments at fair value through  
profit or loss

-  Trading investments (2,573) (532) (3,105)

-  Investments designated at fair value through profit or loss (1,069) (520) (1,589)

Impairment loss-available for sale (326) (863) (1,189)

Other (705) (401) (1,106)

8,542 5,752 14,294
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24.    OPERATING ExPENSES

(US$ ’000)

Underwriting Non-
Underwriting Total

2016
Salaries and benefits 12,322 5,148 17,470
General and administration 5,186 2,894 8,080

17,508 8,042 25,550

2015
Salaries and benefits 14,352 5,457 19,809
General and administration 6,660 2,087 8,747

21,012 7,544 28,556

25.    OTHER INCOME
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
Third party administration services 4,587 4,490
Other 929 1,455

5,516 5,945
 
26.    OTHER ExPENSES AND PROVISIONS

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Loss on revaluation of building - 4,850
Foreign exchange loss 2,015 3,509
Provision for doubtful receivable and deposits 376 71
Other 568 3,704

 2,959 12,134

27.    EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS  

Basic and diluted earnings per share has been computed as follows:

2016 2015
Weighted average number of shares outstanding ’000 198,032 198,032
Net profit (loss) US$’000 9,162 (4,421)
Earnings per share US$ 0.05 (0.02)
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28.    POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a number of post-employment plans on defined benefit basis. Eligibility for participation in the defined 
benefit plans is based on completion of a specified period of continuous service or date of hire.  Benefits are based on the 
employee’s years of service.

The principal assumptions used for accounting purposes were:

2016 2015

Discount rate 2.0% 2.0%

Expected return on assets 2.0% 2.0%

Future salary increases 3.3% 3.3%

The movements in the liability recognised in the statement of financial position are:
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015

Balance at 1 January 14,236 13,302

Accruals for the year 1,371 1,649

Payments during the year (3,209) (715)

Balance at 31 December 12,398 14,236

29.    FORWARD FOREIGN ExCHANGE CONTRACTS

In the ordinary course of its business, the Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its exposure in respect 
of foreign currency denominated investments and insurance liabilities. In the event that the item being hedged is sold or 
settled prior to maturity of the forward foreign exchange contract, it is generally the Group’s policy to enter into another 
offsetting forward foreign exchange contract of the same amount and maturity date. The notional amounts of these financial 
instruments are not recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements but their fair values are recognised as 
assets or liabilities, as appropriate, with changes in fair value being taken to the statement of income. The contracts 
oblige the Group to exchange cash flows to be received in the future from foreign currency denominated investments for 
U.S. Dollars at predetermined exchange rates. The counter parties in respect of these transactions are leading financial 
institutions.

Forward foreign exchange contracts – by currency
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015
Notional amount 

purchases
Notional amount 

sales
Notional amount 

purchases
Notional amount 

sales
Euro - 5,046 1,079 500

Pound Sterling - 6,219 1,814 1,292

Japanese Yen - 789 - 1,190

Others - 900 - 1,054

- 12,954 2,893 4,036

Notional amounts are the contract amounts used to calculate the cash flows to be exchanged. They are a common 
measure of the volume of outstanding transactions, but do not represent credit or market risk exposures.

Forward foreign exchange contracts -  remaining term to maturity

All of the forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding are due in one year or less.
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29.    FORWARD FOREIGN ExCHANGE CONTRACTS (Contd.)

Forward foreign exchange contracts – unrealised gains and losses

The following table summarises the fair value of the Group’s hedging portfolio of forward foreign exchange contracts at the 
statement of financial position date, segregating the items between those that are in an unrealised gain position from those 
that are in an unrealised loss position.

(US$ ’000)
2016 2015

Purchases Sales Purchases Sales
Unrealised gains - 285 7 161
Unrealised losses - (12) (45) (56)

- 273 (38) 105

30.    RECONCILIATION OF NET RESULT TO CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015

Profit (loss) for the year 10,151 (7,624)

Decrease in insurance funds (12,299) (12,277)

Change in insurance receivable/payable, net 24,585 5,828

Change in accrued insurance premiums (30,288) 16,701

Change in other assets/liabilities, net 7,074 (3,018)

Net cash used in operating activities (777) (390)

31.    FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURE

The following table presents the fair values of the Group’s financial instruments:
(US$ ’000)

Book Value Fair value

2016

At fair value 
through profit 

or loss

Loans and 
receivables

Held to 
maturity

Available 
for sale

Amortised 
cost Total

ASSETS
Cash and bank balances - 180,460 - - - 180,460 180,460

Investments 138,060 - 9,770 406,747 - 554,577 554,928

Accrued income - 101,610 - - - 101,610 101,610

Insurance receivables - 108,402 - - - 108,402 108,402

Insurance deposits - 28,086 - - - 28,086 28,086

Other assets - 17,643 - - - 17,643 17,643

LIABILITIES
Insurance payables - - - - 61,571 61,571 61,571

Borrowings - - - - 41,000 41,000 41,000

Other liabilities - - - - 39,365 39,365 39,365
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31.    FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURE (Contd.)

(US$ ’000)
Book Value Fair value

2015

At fair value 
through profit 

or loss

Loans and 
receivables

Held to 
maturity

Available 
for sale

Amortised 
cost Total

ASSETS
Cash and bank balances - 198,769 - - - 198,769 198,769
Investments 135,011 - 14,902 395,309 - 545,222 545,495
Accrued income - 71,322 - - - 71,322 71,322
Insurance receivables - 116,022 - - - 116,022 116,022
Insurance deposits - 37,017 - - - 37,017 37,017
Other assets - 21,476 - - - 21,476 21,476

LIABILITIES
Insurance payables - - - - 44,606 44,606 44,606
Borrowings - - - - 44,000 44,000 44,000
Other liabilities - - - - 43,955 43,955 43,955
 
The information disclosed in the table above is not indicative of the net worth of the Group.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the 
Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. 

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that 
instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and 
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

When there is no quoted price in an active market, the Group uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all the 
factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the financial instruments:

General

The book values of the Group’s financial instruments except investments and forward foreign exchange contracts were 
deemed to approximate fair value due to the immediate or short term maturity of these financial instruments.  

Hence, the fair value measurement details are not disclosed.

Investments

The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used 
in making the measurements:

•	 Level  1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

•	 Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. as derived 
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar 
instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less active; or other
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valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

•	 Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where 
the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant 
effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted market prices 
for similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences 
between the instruments.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models and other valuation models.  Assumptions 
and inputs used in valuation includes risk free and benchmark interest rates, bond and equity prices, and foreign exchange 
rates. The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be 
received on sale of the asset at the measurement date.

The table below analyses financial instruments, measured at fair value as at the end of the year, by level in the fair value 
hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized:

(US$ ’000)
2016  Level 1 Level 2  Level 3 Total
At fair value through profit or loss
Held for trading
Common stock of listed companies 43,937 - - 43,937
Designated at fair value on initial recognition
Debt Securities 94,123 - - 94,123
Available for sale 
Debt securities 372,076 - - 372,076
Common stock of listed companies 10,312 - - 10,312
Common stock of unlisted companies - - 6,381 6,381
Other - 878 17,100 17,978
Forward foreign exchange contracts 273 - - 273

520,721 878 23,481 545,080

2015
At fair value through profit or loss
Held for trading
Common stock of listed companies 44,825 - - 44,825
Designated at fair value on initial recognition
Debt Securities 90,186 - - 90,186
Available for sale 
Debt securities 359,471 - - 359,471
Common stock of listed companies 12,214 - - 12,214
Common stock of unlisted companies - 65 6,357 6,422
Other - 1,307 15,895 17,202
Forward foreign exchange contracts 67 - - 67

506,763 1,372 22,252 530,387
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The tables below show movements in the Level 3 financial assets measured at fair value:

(US$ ’000)

Unlisted equity Others Total

Balance at 1 January 2016 6,357 15,895 22,252

Gain (loss) recognised in

-  Income statement 299 (599) (300)

-  Other comprehensive income (10) (679) (689)

Investments made during the year 187 4,801 4,988

Investments redeemed during the year (452) (2,318) (2,770)

Balance at 31 December 2016 6,381 17,100 23,481
       

Balance at 1 January 2015 6,327 15,124 21,451

Gain (loss) recognised in

-  Income statement (568) (1,507) (2,075)

-  Other comprehensive income 315 (175) 140

Investments made during the year 291 5,073 5,364

Investments redeemed during the year (8) (2,620) (2,628)

Balance at 31 December 2015 6,357 15,895 22,252
       
The carrying values of the investment held in level 3 are based on unobservable inputs and reflects proportional share 
of the fair values of the respective companies and their underlying net assets. The Group does not expect the fair value 
of assets under level 2 and level 3 to change significantly on changing one or more of the unassumable inputs. The 
valuations of these investments are reviewed quarterly and updated as necessary on the basis of information received from 
investee and investment managers. For the year ended December 31, 2016, there were no transfers in and out of level 
1, level 2 and level 3  (2015: none). The fair values are estimates and do not necessarily represent the price at which the 
investment would sell. As the determination of fair values involve subjective judgments, and given the inherent uncertainty 
of assumptions regarding capitalization rates, discount rates, leasing and other factors, the amount which will be realized 
by the Company on the disposal of its investments may differ significantly from the values at which they are carried in the 
consolidated financial statements, and the difference could be material.

The Group does not expect the fair value of assets under level 3 to change significantly on changing one or more of the 
measurable / observable inputs.

Forward foreign exchange contracts

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts, used for hedging purposes, is based on quoted market prices.

Fair value less than carrying amounts

The fair value of fixed interest debt securities fluctuates with changes in market interest rates.  The book value of financial 
assets held to maturity has not been reduced to fair value where lower, because such market rate variations are considered 
temporary in nature and management intends, and has the financial resources and capacity, to generally hold such 
investments to maturity.
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32.    PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

1.     Subsidiaries and associates

At 31 December 2016, the principal subsidiaries of the Company were:

Country of incorporation Ownership Non-controlling 
Interests Principal Activities

Arig Capital Limited United Kingdom 100% Nil Reinsurance

Gulf Warranties W.L.L. Kingdom of Bahrain 100% Nil Warranty
Takaful Re Limited United Arab Emirates 54% 46% Retakaful
ARIG Insurance
Management (DIFC) Ltd. United Arab Emirates 100% Nil Insurance 

Manager

All holdings are in the ordinary share capital of the subsidiaries concerned and are unchanged from 31 December 2015 
except for Arig Insurance Management (DIFC) Ltd. which was incorporated on 7th December 2016.  The joint venture Hardy 
Arig Insurance Management W.L.L. has been liquidated. The Group holds 49% and 25% of the equity shares in Arima 
Insurance software W.L.L. and Globemed  Bahrain W.L.L., Bahrain respectively.

The subsidiary Takaful Re Limited which had ceased writing business in 2015 was placed in run-off at the Annual General 
Meeting of the subsidiary held on 7th April 2016.  The run-off is being managed internally under supervision of the Board of 
Directors of the subsidiary.

2.    Interest in subsidiaries: Takaful Re Limited 

(US$ ’000)

2016 2015

Non-controlling interest 46% 46%

 Other assets 129,497 140,700

 Other liabilities 51,535 65,192

 Net Assets 77,962 75,508

 Revenue (1,180) 16,795

Profit (loss) for the year 2,150 (6,963)

 Total comprehensive income 2,453 (6,804)

 Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 1,128 (3,130)

 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 748 (51)

 Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (2,064) 34,039      

 Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,316) 33,988

The subsidiary’s policyholder funds are consolidated as these funds are controlled and managed by the subsidiary which 
is in a position to direct activities and operations.
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33.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties represent the Company’s major shareholders, subsidiary companies, associates, directors and 
key management personnel. 

The following is the summary of transactions with related parties.

1.     Subsidiary companies
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015

        a)    Gross premiums retroceded by subsidiary to parent company 77,063 30,365

        b)  Service fees for administration services provided by parent company 453 860

        c)    Balances receivables 66,033 62,636

2.     Compensation to directors and key management personnel
(US$ ’000)

2016 2015

        a)    Directors

        -      Attendance fees 107 145

        -      Travel expenses 153 148

        b)  Key management compensation

        -      Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,755 2,102

        -      Post-employment benefits 300 302

        -      Employee long-term incentives 1,767 1,607

        c)    Balances payable (net)

               Key management

        -      Maximum balance 4,411 7,096

        -      Closing balance 4,411 7,096

All transactions with related parties are conducted on an arm’s length basis. All outstanding balances from related parties 
are expected to be settled within 12 months. No provisions have been required in 2016 and 2015 for any outstanding 
amounts due from related parties.
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34.    PARENT COMPANY

The unconsolidated statement of financial position of the parent company, Arab Insurance Group (B.S.C.), is presented 
below.  

(US$ ’000)

2016 2015

ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 99,630 124,318

Investments 478,031 457,767

Accrued income 95,193 65,004

Insurance receivables 32,699 47,844

Insurance deposits 27,286 35,347

Deferred policy acquisition costs 10,801 12,963

Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions 30,661 29,383

Other assets 80,920 83,976

Investment in subsidiaries and associates 43,613 42,602

Property and equipment 8,202 8,492

907,036 907,696
LIABILITIES 
Technical provisions 536,616 549,271

Insurance payables 43,373 32,287

Borrowings 41,000 44,000

Other liabilities 29,413 37,890

650,402 663,448

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (note 20)
Share capital 220,000 220,000

Treasury stock (14,793) (14,793)

Reserves 37,387 33,596

Retained earnings 14,040 5,445

256,634 244,248

907,036 907,696

35.    EVENTS AFTER THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE

The directors propose to recommend the following appropriations for approval of shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting to be held on 20 March 2017:

(US$ ’000)

Cash dividend of US$ 0.05 per share of US$ 1 each 11,000 
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